

## LUND UNIVERSITY

#### Short-Chain Fatty Acid Starch Stabilized Pickering Emulsions

#### Design, Properties and Applications

Abdul Hadi, Nabilah Binti

2021

Document Version: Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA):

Abdul Hadi, N. B. (2021). *Short-Chain Fatty Acid Starch Stabilized Pickering Emulsions: Design, Properties and Applications*. [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Division of Food and Pharma, Lund University]. Department of Food Technology, Engineering and Nutrition, Lund University.

Total number of authors: 1

Creative Commons License: Unspecified

#### General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

#### Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

**PO Box 117** 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00



Design, Properties, and Applications

NABILAH BINTI ABDUL HADI DEPARTMENT OF FOOD TECHNOLOGY, ENGINEERING AND NUTRITION | LUND UNIVERSITY





Lund University Main Building, Lund, Sweden.

-The Little Things Can Sometimes Be the Most Priceless-



Department of Food Technology, Engineering and Nutrition Faculty of Engineering Lund University



Short-Chain Fatty Acid Starch Stabilized Pickering Emulsions

## Short-Chain Fatty Acid Starch Stabilized Pickering Emulsions

## Design, Properties, and Applications

Nabilah Binti Abdul Hadi



#### DOCTORAL DISSERTATION

by due permission of the Faculty of Engineering, Lund University, Sweden. To be defended on May 7, 2021, at 13:00 in Lecture Hall KC:C at the Center for Chemistry and Chemical Engineering (Kemicentrum).

> *Faculty opponent* Assoc. Prof. Claire C. Berton-Carabin

French National Research Institute for Agriculture, Food, and Environment (INRAE), Nantes, France

Organization LUND UNIVERSITY	Document name DOCTORAL DISSERTATION
Faculty of Engineering, Department of Food Technology, Engineering and Nutrition	Date of issue 13/04/2021
Author: Nabilah Binti Abdul Hadi	<b>Sponsoring organization</b> The Ministry of Higher Education of Malaysia and Universiti Malaysia Terengganu

#### Short-Chain Fatty Acid Starch Stabilized Pickering Emulsions: Design, Properties, and Applications

#### Abstract

Pickering emulsions are emulsions stabilized by solid particles. Particles with optimal dual wettability toward both of the oil and water phases, can be adsorbed onto the interface, thereby providing the stability of the emulsions. Starch granules have attracted attention due to their positive characteristics, such as being widely available, inexpensive, biodegradable, and nonallergenic. Due to a relatively low degree of hydrophobicity, chemical modification of starch can improve starch hydrophobicity by esterification with a short-chain fatty acid (SCFA) group. The aim of this thesis was to perform SCFA starch modification by means of esterification of rice and guinoa starches with different SCFA groups and levels of modification. The physicochemical and functional properties of SCFA starches were investigated. As one of the future applications, the emulsifying capacity of SCFA starches was evaluated and in vitro digestion was carried out. Until recently, there have been no studies evaluating the effect of different types of SCFA starches and the levels of modification to the physicochemical properties, emulsification and digestibility. The rationale behind the selection of different types of SCFA starches at different levels of modification and the application of these to stabilize Pickering emulsions were discussed. The esterification of starch with short-chain fatty acids group was successfully quantified by direct stoichiometry, FTIR and <sup>1</sup>H-NMR. SCFA starches have shown a different properties compared to their native forms. Native and SCFA-rice starches have a larger particle size compared to native and SCFA-quinoa starches. Both types of starches displayed a polyhedral shape. Upon modification, no changes in particle size were observed. SCFA starches exhibited a reduction in protein and anylose content. SCFA starches demonstrated low gelatinization and pasting temperature. The highest level of resistant starch was observed in the starches with the highest level of modification. Principle component analysis revealed that the physicochemical and functional properties of SCFA starches are highly influenced by the level of modification. SCFA starches were able to perform as a stabilizer in Pickering-type emulsions. The emulsifying capacity was improved by increasing SCFA chain length and levels of modifications. SCFA-quinoa starch Pickering emulsions were observed to have smaller droplet sizes, higher emulsification index, better Turbiscan stability index, and more stable droplet sizes that remained below 50 µm during 50 days of storage. This indicated that Pickering emulsions stabilized by SCFA-quinoa starches were more stable than SCFA-rice starches. In vitro digestion of SCFA starch Pickering emulsions showed that increasing SCFA chain length and modification level reduced the extent of starch hydrolysis. The results of this PhD project implied that increasing the chain length and modification level improved the overall hydrophobicity of the granules and hence improves the emulsification capacity and stability. Improved hydrophobicity resulted in a higher adsorption degree (less free starch) and a denser layer of particles at the interface. Hence, this dense layer protects the oil droplets and prevents the enzyme from getting access to the oil droplets. However, particle coverage was not complete due to the large sizes of the particles. There were therefore still small gaps between starch particles, resulting in lipolysis not being completely arrested. In future research, formulation of SCFA starch Pickering emulsions can be used to investigate the capacity of these emulsions to serve as a carrier for controlled release and targeted delivery of bioactive compounds to a specific location of the gastrointestinal tract, such as the distal locations of the small intestine or the colon.

Keywords: short-chain fatty acid starch, physicochemical properties, Pickering emulsions, starch modification, emulsion stability, starch hydrolysis, *in vitro* digestion, lipolysis

Classification system and/or index te	rms (if any)	
Supplementary bibliographical inform	nation	Language: English
ISSN and key title		<b>ISBN</b> (print) 978-91-7422-790-1 (digital) 978-91-7422-791-8
Recipient's notes Number of pages 200		Price
	Security classification	

I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

Signature

Date 22/03/2021

## Short-Chain Fatty Acid Starch Stabilized Pickering Emulsions

Design, Properties, and Applications

Nabilah Binti Abdul Hadi



Department of Food Technology, Engineering and Nutrition Faculty of Engineering Lund University, Sweden Cover photo by berkay08 © 123rf.com Back cover by Kennet Ruona Copyright Nabilah Binti Abdul Hadi Paper 1 © FOODS Paper 2 © By the Authors (Manuscript) Paper 3 © Carbohydrate Polymers Paper 4 © By the Authors (Manuscript)

Department of Food Technology, Engineering and Nutrition Faculty of Engineering, Lund University

ISBN (print) 978-91-7422-790-1 ISSN (digital) 978-91-7422-791-8

Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University Lund 2021



Media-Tryck is a Nordic Swan Ecolabel certified provider of printed material. Read more about our environmental work at www.mediatryck.lu.se MADE IN SWEDEN

*"Keep your feet on the ground and keep reaching for stars."* 

Casey Kasem

## Contents

Abstract	1
Popular scientific summary	3
List of papers	5
Additional publications not included in this thesis	6
Author's contribution to the papers	6
Aim and objectives	7
Background	9
Emulsions	9
Pickering emulsions	12
Mechanism of emulsion instability	14
Starch	15
Starch structure	15
Granule size and morphology	16
Thermal properties	17
In vitro digestibility of starch	18
Chemical modification of starch	19
Starch granules as Pickering emulsifiers	21
In vitro gastrointestinal digestion of Pickering emulsions	22
General methods	25
Modification of starch with SCFA	25
Degree of substitution of SCFA starch	25
Characterization of starch granules	27
Physicochemical properties of starches	28
Functional properties of starches	29
Characterization of starch stabilized Pickering emulsions	30
Formulations	30
Size and morphology	30
Stability	31
In vitro digestion of starch stabilized Pickering emulsions	32

Starch hydrolysis	34
Lipolysis	35
Summary of the main results	37
Starch modification and determination of the degree of substitution	37
Physicochemical and functional properties of starches	40
Formulation and stability of SCFA starch Pickering emulsions	47
Simulated in vitro digestion of SCFA starch Pickering emulsions	55
Conclusions	63
Future perspectives	65
Acknowledgement	67
References	71

## Abstract

Pickering emulsions are emulsions stabilized by solid particles. Particles with optimal dual wettability toward both of the oil and water phases, can be adsorbed onto the interface, thereby providing the stability of the emulsions. Starch granules have attracted attention due to their positive characteristics, such as being widely available, inexpensive, biodegradable, and non-allergenic. Due to a relatively low degree of hydrophobicity, chemical modification of starch can improve starch hydrophobicity by esterification with a short-chain fatty acid (SCFA) group. The aim of this thesis was to perform SCFA starch modification by means of esterification of rice and quinoa starches with different SCFA groups and levels of modification. The physicochemical and functional properties of SCFA starches were investigated. As one of the future applications, the emulsifying capacity of SCFA starches was evaluated and in vitro digestion was carried out. Until recently, there have been no studies evaluating the effect of different types of SCFA starches and the levels of modification to the physicochemical properties, emulsification and digestibility. The rationale behind the selection of different types of SCFA starches at different levels of modification and the application of these to stabilize Pickering emulsions were discussed. The esterification of starch with short-chain fatty acids group was successfully quantified by direct stoichiometry, FTIR and <sup>1</sup>H-NMR. SCFA starches have shown a different properties compared to their native forms. Native and SCFA-rice starches have a larger particle size compared to native and SCFA-quinoa starches. Both types of starches displayed a polyhedral shape. Upon modification, no changes in particle size were observed. SCFA starches exhibited a reduction in protein and amylose content. SCFA starches demonstrated low gelatinization and pasting temperature. The highest level of resistant starch was observed in the starches with the highest level of modification. Principle component analysis revealed that the physicochemical and functional properties of SCFA starches are highly influenced by the level of modification. SCFA starches were able to perform as a stabilizer in Pickering-type emulsions. The emulsifying capacity was improved by increasing SCFA chain length and levels of modifications. SCFAquinoa starch Pickering emulsions were observed to have smaller droplet sizes, higher emulsification index, better Turbiscan stability index, and more stable droplet sizes that remained below 50 µm during 50 days of storage. This indicated that Pickering emulsions stabilized by SCFA-quinoa starches were more stable than SCFA-rice starches. In vitro digestion of SCFA starch Pickering emulsions showed that increasing SCFA chain length and modification level reduced the extent of starch hydrolysis. The results of this PhD project implied that increasing the chain length and modification level improved the overall hydrophobicity of the granules and hence improves the emulsification capacity and stability. Improved hydrophobicity resulted in a higher adsorption degree (less free starch) and a denser layer of particles at the interface. Hence, this dense layer protects the oil droplets and prevents the enzyme from getting access to the oil droplets. However, particle coverage was not complete due to the large sizes of the particles. There were therefore still small gaps between starch particles, resulting in lipolysis not being completely arrested. In future research, formulation of SCFA starch Pickering emulsions can be used to investigate the capacity of these emulsions to serve as a carrier for controlled release and targeted delivery of bioactive compounds to a specific location of the gastrointestinal tract, such as the distal locations of the small intestine or the colon.

## Popular scientific summary

Emulsions are a special type of formulation created by two or more immiscible phases, such as oil and water with the aid of emulsifiers or stabilizers. Emulsions are constructed by one phase dispersed within a continuous phase in the form of small droplets. Emulsions are ubiquitous on daily basis. They are present in cosmetics (e.g. hand cream, lipsticks, and face serum), foods (e.g. ice cream, butter, milk, and mayonnaise), and pharmaceutical products (e.g. encapsulate drugs, topical medication and self-emulsifying tablets). Despite being effective as an emulsion stabilizer, emulsifiers such as synthetic surfactant could cause problems to human health and the environment, such as skin irritation and water pollution. Moreover, people are very concerned about sustainable and green-label ingredients. Thus, a selection of emulsifiers that fulfil those requirements has caused researchers to focus attention on finding healthy and environmentally-friendly emulsifiers that also provide the desired emulsion properties.

One approach is to replace the chemically-synthesized emulsifiers with natural solid particles with a similar emulsifying capacity. The emulsions developed by solid particles are called Pickering emulsions. In Pickering emulsions, solid particles are adsorbed at the interface of emulsion droplets. Those solid particles surround the emulsion droplets, creating a barrier that protects the droplets from coalescence. Compared to non-biodegradable particles, such as silica, clay and alumina particles, renewable and edible biomaterials like starch have gained interest for the stabilization of Pickering emulsions. Pickering emulsions are stable under a wide range of pH, temperature, and oil type. In addition to food, starch has been used in various applications, such as pharmaceuticals, cosmetics, and packaging. In some cases, the properties of starch are not optimal and it therefore needs to be modified. One way to overcome this is through chemical modification. Chemically-modified starches have been developed over the years to improve its emulsification properties in general and are categorized as food-grade starch, such as octenyl succinic anhydride starch (E1450) and acetylated starch (E1420). In this work, native starches from rice and quinoa were modified with three different types of shortchain fatty acids (SCFA) of different chain lengths, namely acetyl, propionyl and butyryl.

The first part of this thesis aimed to provide more details about SCFA-rice and SCFA-quinoa starch modification and verification of its degree of substitution (DS), as this is fundamental knowledge for verifying the effectiveness of the starch

modification method. In the second part of the thesis, native and SCFA starches were characterized in terms of physical, chemical and digestibility. This work is aimed at finding the relationship of types and levels of modification to starch properties, in order to be able to provide insight for industrial applications. As the third part of this thesis, SCFA starches were used to stabilize Pickering emulsions. Various aspects of Pickering emulsions were evaluated (i.e. droplet size, emulsifying capacity, stability) to determine SCFA starches' capacity to stabilize Pickering emulsions. Lastly, the final part of this thesis is to highlight the *in vitro* digestibility of SCFA starch Pickering emulsions.

The results of this thesis have demonstrated that native rice and guinoa starches were successfully modified with SCFA by verification of its degree of substitution. Esterification of the SCFA group disrupts the inert structure of the starch granules, thereby changing the physicochemical properties of starch. In addition, modification altered the digestibility of the starch in SCFA starches. The modification with the longest SCFA chain length and highest levels of modification improved the emulsification capacity of SCFA starch stabilized Pickering emulsions. This resulted in smaller droplet sizes, less free oil, and less free starch. SCFA starch Pickering emulsions were stable for 50 days of storage, while the small droplets' size was retained. The emulsifying capacity was improved due to the increase in hydrophobicity of SCFA starch particles, thereby increasing the affinity of the particles to adsorb on oil droplets. A low amount of hydrolyzed starch was obtained in SCFA starch Pickering emulsions. Starch modified with the longest SCFA chain length had high resistant (indigestible) starch content. This condition was observed in butyrylated starch Pickering emulsions. Moreover, strong adsorption of SCFA starch on the surface of oil droplets improved starch surface coverage, thus creating particle barriers surrounding the oil droplets, which limits the extent of lipid digestion.

This thesis could give comprehensive information to the industry in the design and selection of SCFA starches and SCFA starch Pickering emulsions that suit their requirements. Compared to traditional emulsions, SCFA starch Pickering emulsions are easy to produce, nontoxic, stable, and have a high emulsifying capacity. SCFA starch Pickering emulsions are valuable in providing health benefits to control blood sugar level. The approach of SCFA starch Pickering emulsions can also be utilized in food and pharmaceutical applications when encapsulation, protection, controlled release and targeted delivery of bioactive materials (e.g. vitamins, carotenoids, fatty acids, amino acids or drug compounds) to distal locations in the gastrointestinal tract is in focus.

## List of papers

This thesis is based on the following papers, which will be referred to in the text by their Roman numerals.

Paper I:	<b>Abdul Hadi, N.</b> , Wiege, B., Stabenau, S., Marefati, A., & Rayner, M. (2020). Comparison of Three Methods to Determine the Degree of Substitution of Quinoa and Rice Starch Acetates, Propionates, and Butyrates: Direct Stoichiometry, FTIR, and <sup>1</sup> H-NMR. Foods, 9(1), 83.
Paper II:	<b>Abdul Hadi, N.</b> , Marefati, A., Purhagen, J., Humphreys, B., Wiege, B., Nylander, T., & Rayner, M. Physicochemical and functional properties of starch modified with short-chain fatty acid at different acyl groups and levels of modification. Manuscript.
Paper III:	<b>Abdul Hadi, N.</b> , Marefati, A., Matos, M., Wiege, B., & Rayner, M. (2020). Characterization and stability of short-chain fatty acids modified starch Pickering emulsions. Carbohydrate Polymers, 240, 116264.
Paper IV:	<b>Abdul Hadi, N.</b> , Rayner, M., Wiege, B., & Marefati, A. <i>In vitro</i> digestion of Pickering Emulsion Stabilized by Short-Chain Fatty Acid Modified Starch Granules. Manuscript.

### Additional publications not included in this thesis

- Paper V: Marefati, A., Wiege, B., Abdul Hadi, N., Dejmek, P., & Rayner, M. (2019). *In vitro* intestinal lipolysis of emulsions based on starch granule Pickering stabilization. Food Hydrocolloids, 95, 468-475.
- Paper VI: Boostani, S., Hosseini, S. M. H., Golmakani, M.-T., Marefati, A., Abdul Hadi, N. B., & Rayner, M. (2020). The influence of emulsion parameters on physical stability and rheological properties of Pickering emulsions stabilized by hordein nanoparticles. Food Hydrocolloids, 101, 105520.

### Author's contribution to the papers

- Paper I: Abdul Hadi, N. and Wiege, B. performed the experimental design. Abdul Hadi, N., Wiege, B. and Stabenau, S. performed SCFA starch modification and determination of the degrees of substitution (stoichiometric calculation and FTIR). Abdul Hadi, N. performed an NMR experiment. Abdul Hadi, N. and co-authors analyzed the results. Abdul Hadi, N. wrote the major part of the paper.
- Paper II: Abdul Hadi, N. planned the entire experimental design. Abdul Hadi, N. and Marefati, A. planned the *in vitro* starch digestion experiment. Abdul Hadi, N. performed all of the experimental work, Abdul Hadi, N. and Humphreys, B. performed and analyzed SAXS. Abdul Hadi, N. and co-authors interpreted the results. Abdul Hadi, N. wrote the paper.
- Paper III: Abdul Hadi, N. and co-authors planned the experimental design. Abdul Hadi, N. performed all of the experimental work. Abdul Hadi, N. and co-authors analyzed the results. Abdul Hadi, N. wrote the paper.
- Paper IV: Abdul Hadi, N. together with Marefati, A. designed the *in vitro* digestion of starch stabilized Pickering emulsions. Abdul Hadi, N. performed all of the experimental work. Abdul Hadi, N. and co-authors analyzed the data. Abdul Hadi, N. wrote the paper.

## Aim and objectives

The aim of this thesis is to design short-chain fatty acid-modified starch granules that can be used to stabilize Pickering emulsions. A deep understanding of modified starch was first acquired, followed by their capacity to stabilize Pickering emulsions. Lastly, the functional properties of SCFA starch stabilized Pickering emulsions were determined.

This overall aim was divided into the following specific objectives, which were divided into the following papers:

#### Paper I:

- To modify starch with a short-chain fatty acid with different types and levels of modification
- To verify the degree of substitution of short-chain fatty acid-starches through different types of analysis techniques

#### Paper II:

• To investigate physicochemical and functional properties of SCFA starches and establish the relationship between types and levels of modifications of those properties.

#### Paper III:

- To formulate SCFA starch stabilized Pickering emulsions with respect to different starch concentration, types and level of modifications
- To evaluate the stability of SCFA starch Pickering emulsions

#### Paper IV:

• To examine the digestibility of SCFA starch Pickering emulsions *in vitro* and the influence of type of modification on starch hydrolysis and lipolysis.

## Background

### Emulsions

Emulsions are defined as mixtures of at least two immiscible liquids in phases, whereby one phase is dispersed in the other phases in the form of droplets [1, 2]. A dispersed phase or internal phase is referred to as a constituent that forms droplets in an emulsion system; whereas a continuous phase or external phase is the surrounding liquid in which droplets are suspended. An emulsion is categorized into two types depending on their spatial distribution of the oil or water phases. A system made up of oil dispersed in a water phase is called an oil-in-water (O/W) emulsion, with examples such as mayonnaise, cream and milk. Conversely, if water is dispersed in an oil phase, the system is defined as water-in-oil (W/O) emulsion, with examples such as butter and margarine [1]. In the food context, emulsion droplet diameters commonly range from 100 nm to 100  $\mu$ m. However, droplet sizes also can reach 5–50 nm (micellar emulsions or micro-emulsions) [1, 3].

It is possible to mix two immiscible liquids using a device that provides intense mechanical energy, such as high-shear mixers or high-pressure homogenizers. However, the droplets formed in this way tend to come together rapidly and coalesce. This results in separation of the oil and aqueous phases, whereby the phase with the lower density (usually oil) is at the top and the other phase (usually water) is at the bottom due to density differences dictated by the gravitational effects. This is a result of the fact that emulsions are thermodynamically unstable systems. To prevent this physicochemical mechanism, a stabilizer, like an emulsifier or texture modifier (thickener and gelling agent) is necessary to improve their kinetic stability and prevent coalescence for a longer shelf life [4]. Emulsifiers, such as surfactants and biopolymers, are surface-active molecules that can attach at the interface of droplets. This process is described as adsorption (Figure 1). The adsorption of emulsifiers thereby reduces the surface and interfacial tension between oil and water in an emulsion system based on the nature of the emulsifiers [5] (Table 1). Lowering the interfacial tension allows droplets to be broken up to a greater extent in the laminar and turbulent flow during emulsification, causing a reduction in droplet size [6]. Other stabilizers, for example, texture modifiers stabilize an emulsion by improving the viscosity of the continuous phase, thereby hindering droplet movements. The selection of stabilizers also demonstrates different stability mechanisms to stabilize emulsions. Emulsion stabilization by electrostatic repulsion is generated by the adsorption of an ionic surfactant that forms a charged layer at the interface. A double layer is then created by the counterions, which creates charged droplets. Each of the charged droplets is repelled due to strong repulsive forces, thus preventing coalescence [7, 8]. Conversely, stabilization via steric hindrance commonly forms by nonionic surfactants, macromolecules or solid particles. These types of emulsifiers create a physical barrier between the oil and water interface to prevent coalescence [1]. The interfacial layer thickness (monolayer) for droplets stabilized by food emulsifiers, such as surfactants, phospholipids and proteins, is in a range of 1–10 nm. The interfacial layer might be thicker or have multilayers depending on the types of emulsions [9]. Therefore, apart from being used as food ingredients or finished products, emulsions have been recognized as attaining good performance as a delivery vehicle in functional foods for bioactive components like fatty acids, antioxidants, vitamins and carotenoids [10, 11].



Figure 1. Schematic representation of oil-in-water emulsion stabilized with surfactants, biopolymer, and particle-stabilized emulsions.

Emulsifier Class	Small Molecular	Weight Surfactants	Macron	nolecules	Part	icles
Size	$\sim 0.4$	to 1 nm	2-20	0 nm	10 nm t	o 10 µm
Chemical class	Non-ionic	Ionic	Amphiphilic	biopolymers	Colloidal solids $\theta < 90^{\circ}$	Colloidal solids $\theta > 90^{\circ}$
Examples	Polysorbates, monoglycerides	Phospholipids, Sodium stearoyl lactylate	Proteins; Egg/ dairy proteins	Polysaccharides; Gum Arabic	Solid particles; modified starch and cellulose	Fat crystals
Surface active		Yes	А	es	Y	es
Amphiphilic	Yes (hydrophilic "he "tail	ad" group and lipophilic " group)	Yes (hydrophobi regi	c and hydrophilic ions)	No (unless Ja	nus particles)
Desorption energy	V	10kT	several th	ousand kT	> several t	nousand kT
Solubility	Water or oil	Water	Water	Water	Water	Oil
Emulsion type	O/W or W/O	M/O	M/O	O/W	O/W	O/M
Molecular organization in solution	Micelles, bilayers, mi	, vesicles, and reverse icelles	Globular, randor	n coil, or rod-like	Particles or partidispe	cles aggregates in arsion
pH stability	Good	Good	Poor at IEP	Good	Good	Good
Salt stability	Good	Poor at I > CFC	Poor at I > CFC	Good	Good	Good
Temperature stability	I	Poor at $T \sim PIT$	Poor at $T > T_{\rm m}$	Good	Good	
Note: IEP (isoelectric point Source: Dejmek et al., [8]	), PIT (phase inversion temp and McClements [1].	perature), T (temperature), Tm (	(thermal denaturation	temperature), I (ionic st	rength) and CFC (critical f	locculation concentration)

Table 1. Comparison based on characteristics and functional properties of emulsifiers that are commonly used as food emulsifiers.

### Pickering emulsions

Pickering emulsions are emulsions that use solid particles as emulsifier to stabilize two immiscible phases. The difference between traditional and Pickering emulsions is that, once the particles are adsorbed on the droplet interface (oil or water), energy of adsorption is high owing to the large sizes (usually > 10 nm). As a result, the energy of detachment is so high that this adsorption is considered irreversible. A mechanical barrier is formed in Pickering emulsions through the formation of a thick layer of solid particles [12-14]. This special mechanism prevents Pickering emulsions against coalescence and Ostwald ripening (Dickinson, 2012).

Pickering emulsions stabilized by starch and protein particles have a considerably higher droplet size (>10  $\mu$ m), which can be affected by the size of particles used to stabilize these droplets (sub-micron to micron-sized particles) [15-18]. The adsorption of particles is dependent on their wettability, with the contact angle of 90° being the best when the particles are equally wetted by both phases (particle is not too hydrophilic or too hydrophobic) (Figure 2). In the case of O/W Pickering emulsions, the contact angle is less than 90°, which means that the particles are wetted more by the water phase (hydrophilic particle). Conversely, when the contact angle is greater than 90°, W/O is formed where particles are wetted more by the oil phase (hydrophobic particle). Without dual wettability, particles would not be able to attain maximum stabilization on Pickering emulsions, which could result in particle displacement by other materials present in an emulsion system [19-21]



Figure 2. Schematic of particle location on a water-oil interface, contact angle ( $\theta$ ) is measured through the water phase.

According to Binks et al., [22], the location of adsorbed particles on the oil-water interface alters the interfacial tension of oil and water and thereby the free energy of an emulsion system. By assuming the adsorbed particle is a sphere and the effect of gravity is negligible due to the small particle sizes, the free energy or energy of detachment ( $\Delta G$ ) required to desorb a particle of radius (r) from an oil-water interface is defined by the following equation [20]:

$$\Delta G = \pi r^2 \gamma \left( 1 - \cos \theta \right)^2 \tag{1}$$

where  $\gamma$  is the interfacial tension between the oil and water,  $\theta$  is the contact angle between the particle and water, r is the particle radius.

The energy of detachment can reach up to  $10^4$  kT (particle radius ~ 10 nm) if the  $\theta$  is 90°, denoting that it is difficult to remove particles from the water-oil interface. This indicates that the emulsion system reaches maximum stabilization with an irreversible state. Conversely, the energy of detachment is low when the contact angle is extremely high  $\theta > 160^\circ$  (hydrophobic), or too low  $\theta < 20^\circ$  (hydrophilic). This facilitates desorption of a particle from the oil-water interface [20-23]. Therefore, in a Pickering emulsion system without the presence of surface-active agents, the wettability of particles on an oil-water interface is solely dependent on the affinity of the particles towards the water or oil phase. Particles that are too hydrophilic or small are not desirable for stabilization Pickering emulsions.

The formulation of a Pickering emulsion consists of solid particles, a continuous phase, a disperse phase, and the presence of energy to create an emulsion. Examples of continuous phases are water and phosphate buffer, while short, medium or longchain triglycerides may act as disperse phase [24-27]. Factors affecting the properties and stability of Pickering emulsions have previously been discussed in the literature. These include particle concentration, particle size, type of particle, oil-water ratio, and aqueous and oil type [24-26, 28-32]. Several studies have shown that increasing particle concentration in Pickering emulsions produces small droplet sizes due to the larger total surface area of the particles that is available to cover the droplets, thus forming a small droplet size. Additionally, an appropriate number of particles makes it possible to achieve a complete surface coverage (dense layer) of particles at the interface, preventing close contact between droplets [33-35]. A detailed study by Aveyard et al., [21] has described how Pickering emulsion droplet size decreases as particle concentration increases, and once particle concentration exceeds a maximum amount, the droplet sizes remain constant at this point. This is because the power of the homogenization device cannot break the drops further even though there is an excess of particles that could, in theory, stabilize any new interface formed [20]. The excess particles thus remain in a continuous phase as free particles. Additional stabilization arises by those free particles, preventing interaction between droplets and also increasing continuous phase viscosity, which can improve emulsion stability [36, 37].

### Mechanism of emulsion instability

Emulsions are thermodynamically unstable systems, thus there is a tendency to separate into two distinct phases or layers over time. Emulsions are considered to be kinetically stable when no or a low detectable rate of changes are observed in an emulsion system over time. Examples of emulsion instability mechanisms are creaming, sedimentation, flocculation, coalescence, Ostwald ripening and phase inversion (Figure 3). One notable emulsion instability phenomenon is gravitational separation, which occurs as creaming or sedimentation. Creaming and sedimentation can be identified when emulsions display the presence of a distinct cream layer at the top or bottom of the container, respectively. Creaming occurs when droplets have a lower density than that of the continuous phase, causing droplets to move upwards. Sedimentation, on the other hand, is a process whereby droplets move downwards due to having a higher density than the surrounding liquid [2]. The gravitational separation rate, v (m/s), is defined by Stokes' law as presented below:

$$\mathbf{v} = \frac{2}{9} \frac{r_p^2 \left(\rho_p - \rho_f\right) g}{\eta} \tag{2}$$

where  $r_p$  is a spherical radius of the particle,  $\rho_p$  is the density of the particle,  $\rho_f$  is the density of the dispersed phase, g is the acceleration due to gravity, and  $\eta$  is the viscosity of the continuous phase.

A simple approach to suppressing creaming is by minimizing the density difference between the phases, adding weighting agents to the phase with lower density, reducing the droplet radius, and increasing the viscosity of the continuous phase [38]. An emulsion can also show a flocculation process if minimum interaction energy is present, causing emulsion droplets to stick to each other [39, 40]. The flocculate droplets are separated by a thin film of the continuous phase, which means that each droplet still retains its identity. Flocculation may proceed with two mechanisms either by bridging or depletion flocculation. In contrast to flocculation, coalescence involves an irreversible merger of emulsion droplets or flocculated droplets causing the formation of larger spherical droplets. Coalescence usually occurs in an extended period or takes place after droplet aggregation [41]. Ostwald ripening occurs due to the higher Laplace pressure of small droplets compared to the large droplets, allowing the diffusion of small droplets and their material onto the bigger droplets, resulting in an increase in average emulsion droplet size [42]. The switching of an emulsion system between O/W emulsion and W/O emulsion is known as phase inversion or defined as catastrophic or transition by Dickinson [43]. For a convectional emulsion, phase inversion is induced by changes in emulsifier concentration, oil and water, temperature, degree of agitation, and electrolyte concentration that influence the hydrophile-lipophile balance (HLB) of the system [44]. Unlike emulsions stabilized by a surfactant, phase inversion in Pickering emulsions can be induced by altering particle wettability or increasing the volume fraction of the dispersed phase. This phenomenon is accompanied by changes in the stability and size distribution of the emulsions [37].



Figure 3. Schematic diagram illustrating the instability process of emulsions.

### Starch

#### Starch structure

Among carbohydrates, starch is a polymer that is made by most of the green plants and stored in the form of granules in plant tissues and organs (e.g. seeds, roots, shoots, leaves, grains, and stems) as a source of energy [45]. Starch granules are semi-crystalline and composed of two types of polymers, amylose and amylopectin, that differ in both size and structure. Amylose is a linear chain of  $\alpha$ -D-glucose units that are linked by  $\alpha$ -(1-4) glycosidic bond. Amylose is located in the amorphous regions of starch granules [46]. While amylopectin is a branched molecule formed by  $\alpha$ -(1,4)-glucan chains joined with  $\alpha$ -(1,6)-glycosidic bonds (Figure 4). Amylopectin contributes to the crystallinity of starch through ordered arrangements of double helices formed by adjacent branches within the structure [47]. In starch granules, amylopectin is classified into three different subchains, defined as A, B and C type, which differ in length. The A-type amylopectin is the shortest chain, with a degree of polymerization (DP) of 19–28. It is mostly found in normal maize, rice and cereal starches. B-type is found in tuber starches (e.g. potato and lotus root) with DP range 29–31. C-type, with DP 25–27, is a mixture of long and short chains of A and B-type. It is found in banana, and smooth pea [48].



Figure 4. Isomers of starch: amylose and amylopectin (A) and schematic illustration of the hierarchical structure of starch (B) adapted from Giri et al., [49] and Wang et al., [50].

#### Granule size and morphology

Starch granules vary in shape, size, and composition depending on the botanical origin. Starch granules have a wide range of sizes, categorized as large granule, >25  $\mu$ m (e.g. potato, rye); medium granule, 10–25  $\mu$ m (e.g. tapioca, barley); small granule, 5–10  $\mu$ m (e.g. rice, oat); and lastly extremely small granule, <5  $\mu$ m (e.g. quinoa, amaranth) [51] (Figure 5). The size of starch granules can also be reduced from their original size to nanometers. Nanosized starch can be achieved through fractionation, ultrasonic and acid or enzymatic treatment [52-54]. In terms of the shape of starch, rice, corn and quinoa starch granules exhibit polyhedral, angular, and irregular shape [55, 56]. Starch granules from root or tuber, such as potato starch, exhibit oval-shaped granules with a smooth surface [57, 58]. Meanwhile, the shape of tapioca starch is spherical with a truncated corner [59].



Figure 5. SEM images of native starches at different magnification; (A) rice (15000x), (B) quiona (15000x), (C) potato (500x) adapted from Zhu et al., [58], and (D) tapioca (1000x) adapted from Prompiputtanapon et al., [60].

#### **Thermal properties**

Starch is used in food applications and is thus normally exposed to processes that involve heating. Thermal transitions of starch are therefore representative information for evaluating starch functionality. The physical transformation of starch during heating can be measured through gelatinization, enthalpy, and viscosity. Gelatinization takes place when starch is heated in the presence of water. Initially, water is diffused inside starch granules with limited swelling. This results in the disappearance of birefringence, morphological changes, and the leaching of amylose. This phenomenon is also an irreversible disruption of the molecular arrangement within starch granules [61, 62]. Thermal properties of starch can be measured using Differential Scanning Calorimetry (DSC), which defines the temperature of gelatinization onset  $(T_0)$ , peak  $(T_P)$ , conclusion  $(T_C)$ , and enthalpy  $(\Delta H)$  change. The gelatinization temperature of starch depends on its botanical origin and the amylose amylopectin composition of the starch. For example, the gelatinization temperature range for some different types of starches are as follows: potato starch is from 55 to 66 °C, wheat starch from 52 to 63 °C, maize starch from 62 to 72 °C, and rice starch from 66 to 77 °C [63-65]. When starch granules reach their gelatinization temperature and are continuously heated in an excess of water, starch continuously swells to several times its original size due to the diffusion of water inside the starch granules (Figure 6). The transition during gelatinization and swelling can be investigated by measuring its pasting viscosity. The pasting viscosity can be recorded using a viscometer, such as Brabender Visco Amylograph or Rapid Visco Analyzer (RVA).



Figure 6. Schematic illustration of starch gelatinization and swelling.

The pasting viscosity is measured throughout the process from the starting point of gelatinization until the end of the cooling step. When starch starts to gelatinize, starch granules start to swell, causing an increase in viscosity as temperature increases. The peak viscosity is reached when swelled granules reach equilibrium, with amylose leaching out into solution [66]. Further stirring results in the rupture of granules, which results in a further decrease in the viscosity. Upon cooling, starch molecules reorganize to some extent to form a gel (possibly with retrogradation), in which amylose molecules aggregate into a network [61] (Figure 6).

#### In vitro digestibility of starch

*In vitro* digestion of starch provides a measure of the rate and extent of sugar release as a result of starch hydrolysis by simulating the physiological processes occurring in the gastrointestinal tract. Starch digestion involves the action of enzymes (in solution) that diffuse and bind to the starch granules as a substrate, followed by catalytic actions (cleaving the glycosidic linkages) [67]. The rate of starch hydrolysis is affected by various factors, such as structural organization (amorphous and crystalline), morphology (granule size and shape), and starch treatment (chemical modification, enzymatic modification, heat-moisture treatment and annealing) [68]. Starches from different botanical origins vary in their amylose and amylopectin fraction. Starches with high amylose content have a low extent of hydrolysis attributed to some amylose forming the double helices packing in the external region of starch granule [69]. In terms of the processing state, raw starch (depending on its source) is slowly or partly resistant to digestion compared to cooked starch, which is fully gelatinized. For example, cooked butyrylated highamylose maize starches are less susceptible to starch hydrolysis compared to cooked native starch [70].

Investigation of *in vitro* starch digestion and the extent of hydrolysis can give rise to understanding that enables strategic modulation of starch digestion and glucose absorption. Englyst et al., [71] proposed a method for the classification of starch

into fractions based on its digestibility as a means of addressing the physiological fate of starch. According to this method, starch can be classified into three fractions based on the time needed for the enzymatic hydrolysis during *in vitro* intestinal digestion. Rapidly digestible starch (RDS) is a starch fraction that is digested within 20 min of hydrolysis. Slowly digestible starch (SDS) is the starch fraction that is digested in between 20 and 120 min. Meanwhile, resistant starch (RS) is the remaining starch fraction that is not digested within 120 min of *in vitro* intestinal digestion [71, 72].

RDS is the starch fraction that can lead to an increase in glycemic response, which causes a rapid increase in blood sugar and insulin levels that is detrimental to health [73]. SDS is digested slowly in the small intestine, thereby prolonging the release of glucose, which is considered to have a moderate glycemic response. SDS is preferable for the development of ingredients that can help to reduce blood sugar and control hyperglycemia [74]. RS is the fraction of non-digestible starch that is resistant to the hydrolytic action of  $\alpha$ -amylase and is not absorbed in the small intestine. Thus, RS is a so-called dietary fiber that can act as the substrate for microbial fermentation in the large intestine [75, 76]. RS is potentially able to maintain the pH of the bowel at a low pH condition and result in the prevention of overgrowth of pH-sensitive pathogenic bacteria [75].

RS can be categorized into four groups; Type I, Type II, Type III, and Type IV. RS type I (RS1) is found in starchy foods that are not fractionated and refined which can be found mostly in legumes and cereals (beans and lentils). RS type II (RS2) is resistant starch granules with the B- or C- polymorph crystal structure, such as unripe banana and raw potato. RS type III (RS3) is retrograded starch, such as cooked and cooled potato and stale bread, since retrogradation occurs when starches are cooked (gelatinized) and cooled (room temperature, refrigerator, or freezer) for a period of time which can result in the formation of RS. Finally, RS type IV (RS4) is a resistant starch found in chemically-modified starches such as acetylated, cross-linked starch [72, 77].

### Chemical modification of starch

Although native starch has been widely used in commercial applications, it is sometimes challenging to choose a suitable starch due to limitations associated with their physicochemical and functional properties in some particular applications. Native starch exhibits low shear stress resistance, thermal resistance, low emulsifying capacity, retrogradation and syneresis that impairs the final properties of different products [33, 78, 79]. To address these shortcomings, modification of starch before its final use is one way to attain desirable properties. Examples of starch modification are chemical modification (e.g. cross-linking, esterification, and

etherification), physical (e.g. ball milling, annealing, and shear modification), enzymatic (e.g.  $\alpha$ - and  $\beta$ - amylases, transglucosidase and pullulanase) or a combination of two modification methods (e.g. acetylation/annealing, debranching/hydroxypropylation and extrusion/succinylation) [80-82].

The amylose chain of starch has a helical conformation with six anhydroglucose units per turn. The outer surface of the helix is composed of hydroxyl groups of glucosyl residues, and the hydrophobic part is located at the internal cavity. In the chemical modification of starch, particularly esterification, hydroxyl groups in the glucose units within the amylose helix are therefore substituted with an ester group [61] (Figure 7). There are three reactive hydroxyl groups in each glucose unit, making the maximum degree of substitution (DS) value three [83].

An example of starch chemical modification is esterification with octenyl succinic anhydride (OSA). OSA modification of native starch has been investigated and applied to stabilize Pickering emulsions [27, 33, 84-87]. Among esterified starches, researchers have focused in particular on propionylated and butyrylated starch due to their capacity to deliver specific SCFA to the colon. Short-chain fatty acids (SCFA) have been associated with the improvement of certain gut diseases, such as colorectal cancer, suppression of colonic inflammation, and the hindrance of an overgrowth of pathogenic microorganisms [70, 75, 88, 89]. Acetylated starch has been widely studied to improve the properties of food products [90, 91]. Meanwhile, propionylated and butyrylated starches have recently gained attention as a source of resistant starch that can potentially work in starch-based delivery systems [92, 93]. Short-chain fatty acids may therefore be an option that can be used in the chemical modification of starch. Another important thing is that the SCFA acyl groups can increase the hydrophobicity of starch, making them suitable for certain applications, including their use as emulsifiers [29, 94, 95]. Furthermore, the fabrication of starch granules by esterification with SCFA is one of the novel green chemical processes that is safe for application in relation to human health [96].



Figure 7. Schematic representation of the esterification process between acyl anhydride and starch structure under alkaline conditions.

### Starch granules as Pickering emulsifiers

Depending on the types of ester group and degrees of substitution, chemical modification of starch improves its hydrophobicity [97]. As a result, modified starch can achieve desirable partial dual wettability towards the oil-water interface, thereby creating a densely-packed layer (monolayer or multilayer) around the dispersed droplets (Figure 8). This phenomenon creates a barrier that is able to hinder coalescence and flocculation of the emulsion droplets, thus improving the stability of Pickering emulsions [98]. This mechanism has been demonstrated by [20, 27, 99] using OSA-treated quinoa and waxy maize starches. Even though native starch granules can stabilize Pickering emulsions, they are prone to exhibit instability and appear as free starch dispersed in the aqueous phase due to hydrophilic surface properties and poor dual wetting capacity [28, 33, 97]. Droplet sizes of Pickering emulsions prepared using native starch granules are normally large, typically 100 um to a few mm depending on the size of the starch granules used [100]. Large starch granules form larger emulsion droplets, which is unfavorable due to less efficient granules packing at the interface. This leads to short-term instability of emulsions due to gravitational separation, coalescence, and Ostwald ripening [30, 31, 101]. A study by Li et al., [102] concluded that the diameter of starch granules affects the stability of Pickering emulsions. Their studies used native starch granules from different botanical sources (waxy maize, wheat, potato and rice) to stabilize Pickering emulsions. Emulsions prepared with rice starch granules exhibited better emulsifying capacity and stability against coalescence during storage compared to

potato starch granules. However, the emulsifying capacity of such large particles is poor due to the large size of potato starch granules and lower available surface area for the same mass of particles. As a result, more granules are required to stabilize the droplets [103, 104]. In addition, through chemical modification, the surface character of naturally hydrophilic starch granules is improved to more hydrophobic, giving it a greater ability to adsorb at the oil-water interface. Increasing the degree of substitution of esterified starches has been shown to improve the emulsifying capacity of starch granules in the formation of Pickering emulsions [28, 33, 105].



Figure 8. Light microscopy images of Pickering emulsion droplets showing that butyrylated rice (A) and butyrylated quinoa (B) starch particles covered the emulsion droplets.

# *In vitro* gastrointestinal digestion of Pickering emulsions

In vitro digestion studies of Pickering emulsions have mostly been performed using static models adapted from Minekus et al., [106], where salivary, gastric and small intestinal digestion is mimicked in three consecutive steps [107-110]. In some cases, the oral phase of the *in vitro* digestion is excluded for liquid formulations because liquid does not remain in the mouth for more than a few seconds. However, it is useful to start with the oral phase when a starch component is present. The oral phase involves a combination of simulated salivary fluid (SSF),  $\alpha$ -amylase and/or amyloglucosidase enzymes at neutral pH (6.8-7) [111]. In the widely-used static models of in vitro gastric digestion, the gastric motility, gastric secretions over time and gastric emptying rate are not included, and the sample is simply incubated in a stirred simulated gastric fluid (SGF) at 37 °C for one to two hours [112]. In vitro gastric digestion operates through the action of the pepsin enzyme, gastric lipase, and hydrochloric acid. In the human body, the stomach environment is generally acidic (pH 1.2-3.0). The acidic environment in the gastric phase is due to the secretion of hydrochloric acid by parietal cells, and this secretion is varies from one individual to another [113]. Simulated intestinal fluid (SIF) must be prepared at neutral pH (6.8–7.0), with relevant enzymes (e.g. amylase for carbohydrate hydrolysis, proteases for protein hydrolysis and lipase for lipolysis) and biological surface-active components (bile salts, and phospholipids) to mimic the digestion conditions in the small intestine. Digestion in the small intestine involves a break-down into smaller fragments. For example, starches are broken down into monosaccharides, proteins are digested into amino acids or peptides, and lipids are digested into free fatty acids and monoglycerides. The by-products of digestion are transported across epithelial cells by an absorption mechanism [114].

Emulsions have been frequently proposed as a formulation approach for the delivery of bioactive compounds to the desired sites of the human body. The majority of these studies adapted a static in vitro digestion model, as this method can predict end-point values (free fatty acids, glycemic index, micronutrient bioaccessibility) [115-117]. The amount of free fatty acid released in Pickering emulsions upon digestion in the gastrointestinal (GI) tract can be traced by measuring the volume of sodium hydroxide used to neutralize the free fatty acids. The extent of lipolysis in Pickering emulsions can be attributed to its droplet size and stability. Previous findings have stated that small emulsion droplets are more easily hydrolyzed by lipase due to the large surface area, allowing more accessible surfaces for the lipase to act on [118]. Thus, even though an emulsion with a small droplet size is more stable than one with large droplet sizes, droplet size is not the only factor that can determine the extent of lipolysis. The physical organization of particles surrounding the oil droplet is an important matter to consider. Study from Bai et al., [119] have addressed that a high concentration of solid particles can densely cover the interface of oil droplets, thereby improving their surface coverage and acting as a barrier to prevent the transport of lipase and bile salts to the oil droplets. Since Pickering emulsions are stabilized by solid particles, they are superior in hindering lipolysis compared to conventional surfactant-based emulsifiers. This is because the particles have high desorption energy, which makes it difficult for the displacement of particles from the droplet interface by bile salts [118, 120, 121]. The lipolysis rate of Pickering emulsions is also affected by the types of oil used in the emulsion system. Very recent works highlighted that the composition of triglyceride (TAG) with saturated and unsaturated fatty acid profiles can influence the extent of lipolysis, where unsaturated and long-chain triglyceride demonstrated a low extent of lipolysis resulted due to limitation of calcium's and bile salts' ability to remove the free fatty acids from the interface of oil droplets [122]. Calcium plays a critical role in the dynamics of lipid digestion, by which calcium ions bind to free fatty acids to form an insoluble calcium soap, thereby removing free fatty acids from the droplet surface [123]. Bile salts also act in the removal of digestion by-products from the oil droplets. When the bile salt concentration is not adequate, the lipolysis end products (i.e free fatty acids, mono and diacylglycerols) accumulate at the interface of oil droplets, thereby limiting the availability site for pancreatic lipase [118, 124, 125].
## General methods

### Modification of starch with SCFA

Chemical modification of native rice and quinoa starches with short-chain fatty acid via esterification was performed as described in **Paper I**. Three SCFA groups with different acyl chain lengths (i.e. acetic, propionic and butyric anhydride) at different concentrations were used. The esterification was performed in an alkali condition by the addition of 0.7 M NaOH at a controlled pH of 8.5.

#### Degree of substitution of SCFA starch

#### Stoichiometric calculation

The most common method used to determine the degree of substitution of SCFA starches is titration based on the hydrolysis of the ester bonds in an alkali solution [126]. The titration method requires a large amount of sample (1 g) and is time-consuming. In this work, instead of using the titration method, three methods were proposed to compare the DS of SCFA starches. The first method was based on stoichiometric calculations. Two reactions are involved in the acylation of starch with SCFA. The main reaction is the reaction of the alkaline-activated starch St-O<sup>(-)</sup> with the anhydride. Meanwhile, a reaction of anhydride with OH<sup>(-)</sup> ions is a side reaction, as shown below:

#### Main reaction:

$$St - OH + OH^{(-)} + (CH_3CO)_2O \rightarrow St - OCOCH_3 + CH_3COO^{(-)} + H_2O$$
 (3)

#### Side reaction:

$$(CH_3CO)_2O + 2OH^{(-)} \rightarrow 2CH_3COO^{(-)} + H_2O$$
 (4)

where St-OH represents starch,  $(CH_3CO)_2O$  is acetic anhydride and St-OCOCH<sub>3</sub> represents starch acetate. In the main reaction, one mole of  $OH^{(-)}$  is needed for the consumption of one mole of acetic anhydride. For the side reaction, two moles of  $OH^{(-)}$  are needed to neutralize the pH. The ratio of the molar amount of  $OH^{(-)}$  to the molar amount of anhydride must therefore be between 1 (only main reaction) and 2

(only side reaction). By taking the reaction parameters into the account (molar amount of educts), the degree of substitution and acyl content are calculated stoichiometrically from the derived equation by considering the molar amount of educts. From the moles of anhydride (n(Anhyd.)) and sodium hydroxide (n(NaOH)) required during the esterification, the DS of SCFA starches was calculated using the following equations:

$$n(Anhyd.-St.) = 2 \times n(Anhyd.) - n(NaOH)$$
(5)

$$DS = \frac{n(Anhyd.-St.)}{n(Anhyd.Glu)}$$
(6)

where n(Anhyd.-St.) is the moles of anhydroglucose. The number of moles of anhydroglucose is determined using the following equation:

$$n(Anhyd.Glu) = \frac{m(Anhyd.Glu)}{M(Anhyd.Glu)}$$
(7)

where m (Anhyd.Glu) is the mass of anhydroglucose, M(Anhyd.Glu) is the molar mass of anhydroglucose (162.1 g/mol). From the DS value, the acyl content (AC) is calculated using the equation below:

$$AC = \frac{DS \times 100\% \times M(acyl group)}{\left(DS \times \left(M(acyl group) - 1\frac{g}{mol}\right) + M(Anhyd.Glu)\right)}$$
(8)

where the molar mass for each acyl group M(acyl) is 43.04 g/mol (acetyl), 57.07 g/mol (propyl), and 71.10 g/mol (butyryl).

#### FTIR spectroscopy

Secondly, Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy (FTIR) is commonly used to determine the effects of reaction parameters on starch molecular structure, but it can also quantitatively calculate the DS values. The advantage of using FTIR is that the sample measurements are performed in a dry condition without intense sample preparation. However, it is an indirect measuring method for determining the DS. FTIR measurement is used to confirm the DS of esterified starches by determining the absorbance intensity of acyl groups of samples. In this work, the absorbance intensity of the acyl group (their ratios) versus the DS was determined based on the Beer-Lambert law. A previous study from Fei et al., [127] stated that the reliability of the linear relationship of absorbance intensity and DS can be obtained for a DS below 2.0. In this work, SCFA starches were analyzed by a Tensor 37 FTIR-spectrometer (Bruker, Bremen, Germany) with a wavenumber range of 4000–400

cm<sup>-1</sup> at a resolution of 2 cm<sup>-1</sup>. The transmittance spectra were baseline corrected and converted into an absorbance spectrum.

#### Nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR)

Thirdly, NMR was also performed to determine the DS of SCFA starches. NMR is a molecular identification technique that can demonstrate structural evidence by providing information on protons and carbon shift of methyl groups in anhydroglucose units and anhydride groups. NMR is less time-consuming compared to the titration method. However, samples must be dissolved completely in a specific nuclear magnetism reagent to get an accurate result. Thus, this method is considered expensive due to the NMR standard reagent needed. In this work, <sup>1</sup>H-NMR was chosen as it can effectively determine the content of acyl groups in starch since the chemical shifts of protons in methyl groups of the acyl groups and anhydroglucose in starch are different. Experiments were performed on an Agilent UNITY Inova (Agilent Technologies, Ltd., Santa Clara, United States) operating at 500 MHz for <sup>1</sup>H-NMR. Samples were dissolved in DMSO-d<sub>6</sub> at 85 °C and were analyzed at 45 °C, with 4.8 s relaxation delay and 128 scans. For better quantification, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub> was used to increase the solubility of starch  $\alpha$ -dextrins [128]. The DS values were calculated using the following equation [129]:

$$DS = \frac{(A \times 4)}{(3 \times C)}$$
(9)

where A is integral of the methyl signals and C is the integral of the proton signals of the anyhydroglucose unit.

### Characterization of starch granules

Starch modification affects the physicochemical properties of starch and thus influences its application and function. Such knowledge regarding the physicochemical and structural characteristics of SCFA starches is therefore essential for the rational design of products in food processing, industrial application and physiological function. Through the work, the relationship between physicochemical and functional properties of SCFA starches with respect to different types and levels of modification can be established. SCFA starch characterization was investigated as presented in **Paper II**.

#### Physicochemical properties of starches

#### Protein content

The total protein content of starch samples was analyzed by protein analyzer FlashEA® 1112 N elemental analyzer (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, USA). Aspartic acid was used as a known standard (Nitrogen content: 10.52). The protein content was calculated based on the nitrogen content of the starch samples with a conversion factor of 6.25.

#### Dry matter

The dry matter of starch was determined according to the AOAC method 2000. The starch sample was weighed out in a sample size of 1 g  $\pm$  0.1 and placed in the drying oven for 16 h at 105 °C.

#### Amylose content

Amylose content was measured according to the 96-well plate iodine binding assay dual-wavelength method developed by Kaufman et al., [130]. The absorbance of each well was quantified at 620 nm and 510 nm using a spectrometer-based absorbance microplate reader (SPECTROstar Nano, BMG LABTECH GmbH, Ortenberg, Germany). The amylose content was measured by plotting a standard curve obtained by absorbance difference (640 nm and 540 nm).

The amylose content was measured using a dual-wavelength amylose equation as shown below:

Dual-wavelength amylose = Diff ABS - (y-intercept of regression)(8)

where Diff ABS is the absorbance difference of 620 nm and 510 nm (ABS 620-ABS 510), and y-intercept of regression is the regression obtained from the amylose standard curve.

#### X-ray diffraction (XRD)

The X-ray pattern of starches was obtained using Small Angle X-Ray Scattering (SAXS) (GANESHA 300XL instrument, SAXSLAB, Copenhagen, Denmark). Diffractograms were acquired at a diffraction angle of  $2\theta$  from 5° to 30° at room temperature. The background of the empty sample holder was subtracted with a Kapton window.

#### Morphology

The morphology of native starch granules was studied using a scanning electron microscope (DELPHI PhenomWorld Delmic, Delft, The Netherlands). The starch samples were mounted on an SEM aluminum holder with double-sided adhesive

tape and were sputtered with 20 nm palladium/gold. The images were captured at an accelerated voltage of 5kV.

#### **Functional properties of starches**

#### Thermal properties

The thermal properties of native and SCFA starches were characterized by differential scanning calorimeter (DSC, Seiko 6200. Seiko Instruments Inc., Japan). Starch dispersions in buffer were prepared at a ratio of 1:5 (w/w). The starch dispersion was homogenized with a rotor-stator high shear mixer (Ystral D-79828) at 22,000 rpm for 60 s and was sealed in an aluminum pan. Starch samples were heated from 10 °C to 120 °C with a scanning rate of 10 °C min<sup>-1</sup>. The temperature at the onset gelatinization (T<sub>o</sub>), peak gelatinization temperature (T<sub>P</sub>), final gelatinization temperature (T<sub>C</sub>), and gelatinization enthalpy ( $\Delta$ H) were determined.

#### Pasting properties

The pasting properties of the native and SCFA starches were analyzed by Rapid Visco Analyzer (RVA) 4800 (Perten Instruments, Perkin Elmer, NSW, Australia). Approximately 25 g of phosphate buffer were weighed out into a plastic canister. Then, 3.5 g of starch sample based on dry weight was added to the canister, and the starch suspension was mixed thoroughly. The measurement was then started at a holding temperature of 50 °C for 1 min, followed by heating to 95 °C for 3.5 min and holding at the same temperature for 2.5 min. The sample was then cooled at 50 °C for 4 min before the final measurement by holding the temperature at 50 °C for 2 min. The peak viscosity, breakdown, setback, final viscosity and pasting temperature were determined.

#### Texture profiles

The gelatinized starch sample obtained from the RVA analysis was used in this analysis. The gel was allowed to sit for 24 h in the closed canister. The texture profile of solid gel was analyzed by Texture Analyzer (TVT-300XP, Perten Instruments AB, Hägersten, Sweden). Using a 20 mm cylinder, the gel in the canister was punctured at a rate of 1.0 mm s<sup>-1</sup> to a depth of 10 mm by a double cycle penetration.

#### Starch hydrolysis

The *in vitro* starch digestion was done following the method by Englyst et al., [131], with slight modification. The reducing sugar was calorimetrically measured by 3,5-dinitrosalicylic acid assay (DNS assay). The amount of readily digestible starch (RDS), slowly digestible starch (SDS) and resistant starch (RS) were quantified

using a spectrometer-based absorbance microplate reader at absorbance 540 nm. The fraction of RDS, SDS and RS was calculated according to Simsek et al., [132].

### Characterization of starch stabilized Pickering emulsions

#### Formulations

Pickering emulsions were formulated at five different starch concentrations (50, 100, 200, 400 and 800 mg per mL oil) using the highest DS of SCFA starches. SCFA starch Pickering emulsions were also formulated using SCFA starches at a different level of DS with a starch concentration of 200 mg per mL oil. The amount of medium-chain triglyceride (Miglyol 812) used in this formulation was 10%. For the *in vitro* digestion of SCFA starch Pickering emulsions, native and SCFA starches at the highest DS were used to formulate Pickering emulsions. The amount of starch used was 200 mg per mL oil, with an oil fraction ( $\Phi$ ) of 30% v/v. The preparation technique of Pickering emulsions was standardized for all experiments. Oil-in-water starch Pickering emulsions with 7 mL in total volume were prepared by dispersing amount of oil was added to the starch dispersion and the mixture was homogenized in glass test tubes using a rotor-stator high shear mixer (Ystral, Germany) with 6 mm dispersing tool at 22000 rpm for 60 s. The properties and stability of starch Pickering emulsions were evaluated and presented in **Paper III**.

#### Size and morphology

#### Particle size distribution

The particle size distribution of Pickering emulsions was measured using a laser diffraction particle size analyzer, Mastersizer Hydro 2000 (Malvern Instrument, Malvern, UK) at a pump speed of 2000 rpm with an obscuration range of 10–20%. The average of the droplet sizes was obtained based on  $D_{(4,3)}$  (volume-weighted mean diameter), and  $D_{(3,2)}$  (surface-weighted mean diameter or Sauter mean diameter) and the mode of  $D_{(4,3)}$ .

$$D_{_{(4,3)}} = \frac{\sum n_i d_i^4}{\sum n_i d_i^3}$$
(10)

$$\mathbf{D}_{_{(3,2)}} = \frac{\sum n_i d_i^3}{\sum n_i d_i^2}$$
(11)

where d<sub>i</sub> is the droplet diameter and n<sub>i</sub> is the number of droplets with diameter d<sub>i</sub>.

#### Microscopy

In addition to the quantitative measurements using a laser diffraction technique, the morphology of Pickering emulsions was evaluated using optical microscopy (Olympus BX50, Japan). Microscopic observation can be used to compare the quantitative results obtained from the laser diffraction method and give a better understanding of the droplet distribution of the emulsions. The emulsion was diluted in phosphate buffer at a ratio of 1:5, and two drops of the mixture were placed on the microscopic glass slide without a coverslip. The microscopic images were taken using an objective magnification of  $20 \times$  and  $50 \times$  and were analyzed using ImageJ (Image processing and analysis in Java software).

#### Stability

To evaluate the effectiveness of SCFA starch granules as Pickering emulsifier, the relationship between emulsifying capacity and emulsion stability was investigated. Emulsion stability refers to the ability of an emulsion to maintain its characteristics (i.e. micro and macrostructure) for a long period. Stability is therefore a crucial parameter in understanding the behavior of the Pickering emulsion system, which can be measured using various methods such as creaming index, static or multiple light scattering, visual identification, microscopy and size distribution of emulsion droplets at different time intervals.

#### Stability kinetics towards gravitational separation

The instability mechanisms of Pickering emulsions caused by gravitational separation (creaming/sedimentation) can be analyzed using Static Multiple Light Scattering (S-MLS), Turbiscan Lab Expert (Formulaction Co., Toulouse, France). The stability of Pickering emulsions by S-MLS was determined based on the Turbiscan Stability Index (TSI), which is obtained from the intensity of backscattering (BS) and transmission (TS) profiles, which are correlated to the physical stability of the emulsion system (Figure 9). In this experiment, global TSI (TSI<sub>T</sub>) was taken into account to investigate the emulsion droplet migration phenomena caused by sedimentation and/or creaming, as well as possible changes in size caused by coalescence and/or aggregation. The TSI<sub>T</sub> value is the measurement of the overall TSI from the bottom to the top of an emulsion phase. The TSI values were calculated using the equation below:

$$TSI = \sum i \frac{\sum_{i} |scan_{i} - scan_{i-1}|}{H}$$
(12)

which sums up the evolution of TS or BS light at all measured positions, based on a scan-to-scan difference, over the total sample height (H). The TSI integrates all of the variations detected in the samples in terms of size and/or concentration [17]. Therefore, an increase in the TSI value during storage is interpreted as emulsion droplet migration, leading to local variations of the concentration in the bottom and top of the sample (i.e. sedimentation or creaming processes, respectively), or an increase in mean droplet sizes (caused by coalescence) that can lead to global variations in the middle of the sample. So, it is necessary to analyze  $TSI_T$  as well as emulsion macrostructure and microstructure by means of visual inspection and microscopy.



Figure 9. Schematic diagram and parameters of Static Multiple Light Scattering (Turbiscan Lab Expert).

#### Emulsion Index (EI)

The emulsion index (EI) was identified by measuring the height of the emulsion layer of emulsions by S-MLS. The equation used for the EI determination is stated below:

$$EI (\%) = \frac{\text{height of sedimentation or creaming layer (cm)}}{\text{height of total emulsion (cm)}} \times 100$$
(13)

# In vitro digestion of starch stabilized Pickering emulsions

Simulated *in vitro* digestion was performed following three consecutive oral, gastric, and small intestinal phases (Figure 10). All simulated fluids and emulsions were incubated at a temperature of 37 °C before the experiment. An auto-titrator (Titrando 836, Metrohm, Switzerland) including an attached pH probe and dosing unit was used. The digestion experiment was performed in a digestion vessel with a thermostatic jacket that maintained a temperature of 37 °C, and the vessel was connected to the pH-stat that controlled pH under fixed agitation conditions. For the determination of the amount of the free fatty acid released, two references were

prepared as a comparison to SCFA starch stabilized Pickering emulsions. A surfactant-based emulsion, 0.04% w/v of polysorbate 20 in phosphate buffer, and a bulk oil sample were both prepared using the same volume fraction of the dispersed phase (30% of MCT oil) in a phosphate buffer, homogenized using the same emulsification technique as the Pickering emulsions, and carried out using the same *in vitro* digestion model as described for SCFA starch stabilized emulsions. The *in vitro* digestion of SCFA starch Pickering emulsions is presented in **Paper IV**.



Figure 10. Schematic diagram of parameters used in in vitro digestion of SCFA starch Pickering emulsions.

#### Simulated oral digestion

The simulated oral digestion was performed based on a method by Liang et al., [25] and Mulet-Cabero et al., [108]. The emulsion was mixed with simulated salivary fluid (SSF) at a ratio of 1:1 (v/v). The SSF contained various inorganic salts (12 mM of KCl, 2 mM of KSCN, 7.5 mM of NaH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>, 4 mM of Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, 5 mM of NaCl, 20.2 mM of NaHCO<sub>3</sub> and 0.033 mM of urea). SSF at a volume of 3.8 mL was added to the digestion vessel, followed by 5 mL of the Pickering emulsion and 0.445 mL of uric acid. Once the pH was adjusted to 6.8 and the total volume was adjusted to 9.445 mL, 0.555 mL of the supernatant of the  $\alpha$ -amylase solution was gently added to make a total volume of 10 mL in simulated oral digestion. The simulated oral digestion was carried out for 5 min. The material collected at the end of the oral processing stage is called the "bolus". After 5 min, 0.1 mL of bolus was taken out and analyzed for starch determination.

#### Simulated gastric digestion

The simulated gastric digestion was performed according to Bai et al., [118], which was essentially adopted from Pharmacopeia [133]. The "bolus" was combined with simulated gastric fluid (SGF) at a ratio of 1:1. The SGF was prepared by mixing 2 g of NaCl with 7 mL of 37% HCl, which was then supplemented with Milli-Q® ultrapure water to reach 1 liter. SGF is typically a highly acidic aqueous solution  $(pH \approx 2)$  containing simulating gastric compositions, such as acids, buffers, salts, and digestive enzymes. However, since native and SCFA starches had a low amount of protein content (Paper II), in this work the pepsin enzyme was not included as it could interfere with the quantification of the hydrolyzed starch (Liang et al., 2016). First, 8.8 mL of SGF was added to the digestion vessel. An allocated amount of 1.2 mL was used to adjust the pH in the simulated gastric system to 1.2, and the amount remaining after the pH adjustment was topped up with the SGF solution so that the final volume of SGF in the mixture was exactly equal to the volume from oral digestion (9.9 mL). The simulated gastric digestion was incubated for 60 min to mimic gastric conditions. The material collected at the end of the gastric stage is referred to as "chyme". At 60 min, 0.1 mL of chyme was analyzed for starch content.

#### Simulated intestinal digestion

Simulated small intestinal digestion was performed based on a method by Marefati et al., [85] that was adapted from Pharmacopeia [133]. The digestion mixture from the gastric phase was mixed with SIF to reach a ratio of 1:1 (v/v). The simulated intestinal fluid (SIF) consisted of 0.05 M of KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub> and 0.2 M of NaOH prepared in a  $\times$ 1.25 concentration. The corresponding amount of 788 mM of CaCl<sub>2</sub> solution, 394 mM of bile salt solution, which was a 50:50 mixture of sodium cholate and sodium deoxycholate were added to set the final concentration of CaCl<sub>2</sub> and bile salts in the digestion system to 10 mM. The remaining amount of 1.44 mL was used to adjust the pH to 6.8. The supernatant of pancreatin mixture (1 mL) (10 mg/mL in the final digestion mixture) was added to the digestion system. The simulated intestinal digestion was performed for 180 min and the intestinal materials of this process are called "digest". At allocated time intervals, 0.1 mL of the digest was analyzed for starch content.

#### Starch hydrolysis

The amount of maltose in 0.1 mL of digestion mixture was quantified by means of a 3,5-dinitrosalicylic acid (DNS) assay based on Lindsay [134] and Teixeira et al., [135] using a spectrometer-based absorbance microplate reader (SPECTROstar Nano, BMG LABTECH GmbH, Germany) at absorbance 540 nm. The amount of maltose was converted to hydrolyzed starch by multiplying by 0.95, which is a conversion factor for starch to maltose [136].

#### Lipolysis

A pH-stat titration method is a classical approach that is used to monitor the release of free fatty acids (FFA) during simulated *in vitro* digestion. The percentage of FFA released is calculated based on the amount of NaOH required to neutralize two free fatty acids per triacylglycerol molecule generated by lipolysis [109]. To account for the possibility of free fatty acids being released from the SCFA starches, control experiments were carried out where the volume of the oil was replaced with phosphate buffer, and the corresponding type of starch went through the digestion process whereby the amount of SCFA starch Pickering emulsions were subtracted with the corresponding control. In addition, *in vitro* digestion of phosphate buffer mixed with MCT oil (bulk oil) and polysorbate 20 was carried out and lipolysis was measured. The extent of lipolysis from those experiments was then compared to the SCFA starch Pickering emulsions. The amount of FFA% released was calculated using the equation below (Sarkar et al., 2016):

$$FFA\% = \left(\frac{V_{NaOH} \times M_{NaOH} \times MW_{lipid}}{2 \times W_{lipid}}\right) \times 100$$
(14)

where  $V_{NaOH}$  is the volume (mL) of NaOH consumed,  $M_{NaOH}$  denotes the concentration of NaOH (0.5 M) solution required to neutralize the FFA,  $MW_{lipid}$  is the molecular weight of the MCT oil (520 g/mol) and  $W_{lipid}$  is the mass of the MCT oil initially added to the digestion vessel (1.4175 g).

## Summary of the main results

# Starch modification and determination of the degree of substitution

Chemical modification and determination of the degree of substitution of rice and quinoa starches were performed as presented in **Paper I**. In this paper, rice and quinoa starches were modified with short-chain fatty acids (acetic, propionic and butyric anhydride). Acetic anhydride has the shortest carbon chain length (C2), followed by propionate (C3) and butyrate (C4) anhydrides. This study aimed to quantify degrees of substitution of SCFA starches using three different techniques.

The DS values were directly determined by means of a stoichiometric equation using the reaction parameters obtained during the esterification (Tables 2 and 3). It was observed that increasing the amount of acyl anhydride increased the amount of acyl group substituted on the starch, thereby increasing the DS values. Depending on their botanical origin, the DS and percentage of acyl obtained for SCFA-rice starches were higher compared to those for SCFA-quinoa starches. The same finding was reported by Colussi et al., [90], who discovered that low-amylose starches are able to undergo better esterification than high-amylose starches, thus increasing the DS. **Paper II** has shown that a low amylose content was found in rice starch ( $4.20\% \pm 0.26$ ) compared to quinoa starch ( $23.16\% \pm 1.08$ ), which agreed with findings by Marefati et al., [33].

Volume anhydride	Anhyd	NaOH	NaOH	AnhydSt.	Acyl	DS	DS
(mL)	(mol)	(g)	(mol)	(mol)	(%)	(stoichiometry)	( <sup>1</sup> H-NMR)
Ac-A 1.60	0.01679	28.63	0.01980	0.01378	0.95	0.0360	0.0274 ± 0.0012
Prop-A 2.19	0.01683	31.43	0.02196	0.01170	1.06	0.0305	0.0255 ± 0.0017
But-A 2.84	0.01684	30.74	0.02148	0.01220	1.38	0.0319	0.0314 ± 0.0025
Ac-A 3.20	0.03357	57.88	0.04002	0.02712	1.85	0.0708	0.0642 ± 0.0048
Prop-A 4.37	0.03358	64.03	0.04475	0.02241	2.02	0.0586	0.0527 ± 0.0026
But-A 5.67	0.03362	60.72	0.04243	0.02481	2.76	0.0648	0.0681 ± 0.0010
Ac-A 4.80	0.05036	87.84	0.06074	0.03998	2.70	0.1044	0.0906 ± 0.0030
Prop-A 6.56	0.05042	91.42	0.06389	0.03695	3.29	0.0965	$0.0869 \pm 0.0039$
But-A 8.51	0.05046	91.19	0.06373	0.03718	4.09	0.0971	0.1102 ± 0.0029
Ac-A 6.40	0.06715	118.85	0.08219	0.05211	3.49	0.1361	0.1251 ± 0.0053
Prop-A 8.75	0.06724	122.88	0.08587	0.04865	4.28	0.1270	0.1121 ± 0.0007
But-A 11.34	0.06724	124.74	0.08717	0.04731	5.14	0.1235	0.1267 ± 0.0026

Table 2. Reaction, product parameters and DS obtained from stoichiometry and <sup>1</sup>H-NMR analysis of acetylated, propionylated and butyrylated rice starch.

Abbreviations: Ac-A = acetic anhydride, Prop-A = propionic anhydride, But-A = butyric anhydride, n (Anhyd.) = mol of anhydride; n(Anhyd.-St.) = mole anhydride bound on starch.

Volume anhydride	Anhyd	NaOH	NaOH	AnhydSt.	Acyl	DS	DS
(mL)	(mol)	(g)	(mol)	(mol)	(%)	(stoichiometry)	( <sup>1</sup> H-NMR)
Ac-A 1.60	0.01679	30.24	0.02091	0.01267	0.87	0.0331	0.0269 ± 0.0026
Prop-A 2.19	0.01683	31.94	0.02225	0.01141	1.04	0.0298	0.0250 ± 0.0015
But-A 2.84	0.01684	31.90	0.02222	0.01146	1.30	0.0300	0.0331 ± 0.0040
Ac-A 3.20	0.03357	60.72	0.04199	0.02515	1.72	0.0657	0.0562 ± 0.0020
Prop-A 4.37	0.03358	61.40	0.04277	0.02439	2.19	0.0637	0.0579 ± 0.0019
But-A 5.67	0.03362	64.03	0.04461	0.02263	2.53	0.0591	0.0598 ± 0.0053
Ac-A 4.80	0.05036	91.35	0.06317	0.03755	2.54	0.0981	0.0852 ± 0.0019
Prop-A 6.56	0.05042	92.38	0.06436	0.03648	3.25	0.0953	0.0943 ± 0.0002
But-A 8.51	0.05046	96.35	0.06713	0.03379	3.73	0.0883	0.0978 ± 0.0025
Ac-A 6.40	0.06715	120.45	0.08330	0.05100	3.42	0.1333	0.1105 ± 0.0058
Prop-A 8.75	0.06724	126.06	0.08783	0.04665	4.12	0.1219	0.1143 ± 0.0061
But-A 11.34	0.06724	129.36	0.09012	0.04436	4.84	0.1159	0.1229 ± 0.0065

Table 3. Reaction, product parameters and DS obtained from stoichiometry and  $^{1}$ H-NMR analysis of acetylated, propionylated and butyrylated quinoa starch.

In this study, FTIR was chosen to compare the DS obtained from the stoichiometric equations. FTIR is an indirect measuring method for quantifying DS based on the peak absorbance intensity. Hence, the selection and determination of characteristic peaks and the baseline are important. SCFA starches exhibited a new peak at 1730 cm<sup>-1</sup> which was assigned to the carbonyl (C=O) vibration. This indicated that the acylation process took place on the starch macromolecule [137, 138]. A positive correlation was observed between the absorbance intensity obtained from the integral (1781–1690 cm<sup>-1</sup>) and the acyl content obtained from the stoichiometric calculations (Figure 11).



Figure 11. Correlation between acyl content obtained from the stoichiometric calculations and integral values of the carbonyl (C=O) stretching vibration band from FTIR of esterified starches; (A) acetylated rice and quinoa starches, (B) propionylated rice and quinoa starches, and (C) butyrylated rice and quinoa starches.

The <sup>1</sup>H-NMR spectrum of acetylated starches displayed a methyl group signal at 2.04 ppm, while the spectrum of propionylated starches presented two new peaks related to the methylene (2.33 ppm) and the methyl group (1.02 ppm) [93]. Butyrylation of starch gives rise to three new peaks observed at 2.27 ppm and 1.55 ppm for the methylene groups and 0.89 ppm for the methyl group (Figure 12). The <sup>1</sup>H-NMR spectra exhibited an increased intensity of assigned methyl and methylene peaks as DS increased. The DS values from <sup>1</sup>H-NMR appear were within the range with those DS values obtained from the stoichiometric calculations (Table 2 and 3).



Figure 12. A representative of 500 MHz <sup>1</sup>H-NMR spectra of native starch and SCFA starches at different acylation processes.

Overall, **Paper I** described a new direct method that was developed for the quantification of the DS values of SCFA starches using stoichiometric calculations. The DS obtained from stoichiometric calculations were compared with FTIR and <sup>1</sup>H-NMR showing positive agreement with both methods. The stoichiometric calculations provide an efficient method for the determination of DS, with no loss of sample and prevention of sampling errors. An important aspect of the application of stoichiometric calculations is that the DS determination is performed simultaneously during the acylation reaction on the entire amount of starch undergoing modification, which not only reduces error, but also makes it possible to control the reaction. The results verified that the DS can be directly calculated using stoichiometric calculations. This method can be used as a predetermined step before further confirmation with FTIR, <sup>1</sup>H-NMR, wet titration or other DS determination methods.

### Physicochemical and functional properties of starches

#### Physicochemical properties of starches

The size distribution measured by laser light scattering of native rice granules was observed to have a bimodal distribution, where the mode  $D_{(4,3)}$  of the first and the second peak was  $1.2 \pm 0.0 \ \mu m$  and  $5.6 \pm 0.0 \ \mu m$ , respectively. Meanwhile, native quinoa starch granules had a unimodal distribution, where the mode  $D_{(4,3)}$  was  $1.6 \pm$ 

0.0  $\mu$ m. The average diameter size of granules was in the range of 5.0–6.6  $\mu$ m for SCFA-rice starches and 1.6–1.9  $\mu$ m for SCFA-quinoa starches. No significant difference was observed in particle sizes before and after esterification (P > 0.05).

The images obtained from the scanning electron microscope showed that both native and SCFA-rice starch granules showed the presence of small polyhedral and irregular shape, whereas, native and SCFA-quinoa starch granules displayed a polyhedral shape, with a smoother and more uniform surface. SCFA starch granules maintained their original polyhedral shape before and after chemical modification. It was observed that acetylated and propionylated rice starch granules had slightly rough granular surfaces and somewhat lost their polyhedral shape compared to the native and butyrylated rice starches. This can be attributed to the effect of alkali treatment during the acylation, Surface gelatinization as a result of alkali exposure during esterification may cause the surface of the granules to gelatinize to a minimal extent without losing their granular shape or appearance of fissures [86, 139].

A low amount of protein was measured in the native rice starch (0.283%); while the protein content in native quinoa starch was significantly higher (0.687%). Upon modification, SCFA-rice and SCFA-quinoa starches showed a reduction of protein with the amount of protein in the range of 0.218–0.250% for SCFA-rice starches and 0.537–0.619% for SCFA-quinoa starches. No correlation was observed between the protein content, levels of modification and the type of SCFA group of starches.

Native rice starch was measured to have a low amylose content which was  $4.20\% \pm 0.26$  compared to native quinoa starch which amylose content was  $23.16\% \pm 1.08$ . The SCFA esterification significantly reduced (P < 0.05) the amylose content of SCFA-rice starches, while the reduction of amylose in SCFA-quinoa was observed to occur at DS > 0.06 (Figure 13). Similar findings addressed that amylose content decrease by esterification as esterification may disturb the amorphous regions of starch granules [140]. The amylose might leach out and be washed away during the washing step after the esterification reaction [140, 141].



Figure 13. Amylose content of native starches and SCFA starch at different degrees of substituition; (A) rice and (B) quinoa.

The X-ray diffractograms of native and SCFA starches displayed peaks at  $15.10^{\circ}$ ,  $20.38^{\circ}$  and  $22.58^{\circ}$  and unresolved peaks at  $17.10^{\circ}$  and  $18.2^{\circ}$  (2 $\theta$ ), which explained that native and SCFA starches were an A-type crystalline structure (**Paper II**). The intensity of the observed peaks corresponds to the crystalline proportion of starch, where the intensity peaks of SCFA starches decreased as levels of modification increased due to the esterification of the acyl group taking place at the hydroxyl sites of the starch structure. It was noticeable that the crystallinity peaks increased at the highest levels of modification of butyrylated rice and propionylated quinoa. At a certain amount, an acyl group can occupy the amylopectin regions, thus creating a new crystalline arrangement in the esterified starch [142].

#### Functional properties of starches

Structural or composition changes of starch by SCFA esterification may induce changes in the thermal properties of starch. Therefore, functional properties such as thermal properties of starches were investigated. Thermal properties of starch are represented by the temperature of onset ( $T_O$ ), peak ( $T_P$ ), conclusion ( $T_C$ ) of gelatinization and enthalpy ( $\Delta$ H) (Figure 14). The  $T_O$  of native rice was higher than

native quinoa, which agrees with the findings of previous studies [33, 143]. Compared to the native starches, SCFA starches showed lower  $T_0$  values, except for acetylated starch at the lowest level of modifications. The  $T_P$  of SCFA starches was significantly lower (P < 0.05) than their native counterpart. This showed that the SCFA modification altered the thermal properties of the starches compared to their original native forms, even though it was believed that acetylation of starch with the lowest amount of acetic anhydride did not influence the thermal properties of starches.



Figure 14. DSC thermogram of native starches and SCFA starch at different types and levels of modification; (A) acetylated rice, (B) propionylated rice, (C) butyrylated rice, (D) acetylated quinoa, (E) propionylated quinoa, and (F) butyrylated quinoa.

To investigate the pasting properties of starch, gelation of starch has to take place in the presence of water and heat. During the gelation process, the soluble part of starch starts to absorb water and swell, thereby creating a linkage that promotes gel formation [144]. Native rice and quinoa starches showed significantly higher pasting temperature (PT) than the modified SCFA starches (P < 0.05), which was consistent with gelatinization temperature. Once the starch suspension reached its PT, the viscosity increased as the heating continuously increased and held at 95 °C. The starch paste reached its first maximum viscosity, which is called peak viscosity. A higher peak viscosity was obtained in SCFA starches compared to their corresponding native starches. The increase in peak viscosity was due to the disruption of hydrogen bonds of the starch double helices during acylation, which resulted in the absorption of water by amylose in the amorphous parts and loss of its birefringence [145]. Moreover, rather than in a fixed arrangement (native starch), the introduction of acyl groups creates a new arrangement that contributes to the aggregation of starch in the gel system [146], thus, producing soft gels as indicated in the texture profile (Paper II).

The texture profile revealed that SCFA starches had a lower gel hardness, less gumminess and more stickiness compared to their native forms. No significant trend was identified in starches modified with different types of SCFA or at different levels of modification. The weakening of the gel structure was more pronounced in SCFA-quinoa starch, indicating disruption of intramolecular hydrogen bonding that hindered amylose chain interaction. This can result in the formation of fewer junction zones, leading to the formation of a weaker gel [147]. The paste clarity of both SCFA starches was lower at the lower levels of modification compared to the higher levels of modification. This suggests that, at a low amount of acyl, the distribution of acyl groups in starch granules was low and only limited to certain regions of starch granule, thus causing small changes in paste clarity of starch [148].

#### In vitro digestion of starches

The percentage of RDS in native rice starch was higher than in SCFA-rice starches, except for acetylated rice starch at the modification levels below 1.85 (Figure 15). A high fraction of SDS was obtained in acetylated rice starch compared to propionylated and butyrylated rice starches. At longer SCFA chain length (propionyl and butyryl), SDS fraction was reduced, while RS increased. The decrease of SDS could be explained by the low accessibility of starch molecule to the digestive enzyme resulted from the stereospecific hindrance due to the starch modification [149]. High RS content was identified at the highest level of modification in all types of SCFA starches. This correlates with the decrease of RDS and SDS fractions, which means that the starch was less susceptible to the enzymatic activity during the 120 min of *in vitro* starch digestion due to the shielding effect of the acyl group [150]. The RDS in butyrylated quinoa starch was significantly decreased as the DS increased. A high percentage of SDS was observed in

butyrylated quinoa starch at 1.30-3.73% of acyl content, with a significant decreased in the RDS fraction. This resulted from the higher ability of the pancreatin  $\alpha$ -amylase enzyme to break down the SDS fraction of the starch substrate. However, at an acyl content of 4.84%, the SDS fraction was not being digested by pancreatic  $\alpha$ -amylase at the same rate and, thus, resulted in an increase in the RS fraction. These results revealed that the modification levels had a larger impact on starch digestibility than SCFA types. Similar findings have been reported by Ye et al., [151] and Dai et al., [92] who mentioned that high DS resulted in a high fraction of RS. There was no correlation between amylose content and starch digestibility, as also reported by Sandhu et al., [152] and Ye et al., [151]. This suggests that the esterification of SCFA groups at different levels of the modification was the main source of reduction of the extent of starch hydrolysis.



Figure 15. The fraction of RDS, SDS and RS; (A) native rice and SCFA-rice starches and (B) native quinoa and SCFA-quinoa starches.

#### Principal component analysis

The principal component analysis was carried out to investigate the relationship between starch properties at different types of SCFA and levels of modification (Figure 16). The spread in PC-1 is related to the two different types of starches, which can be observed by the presence of two clusters on the PC-1 axis. Two separated clusters indicated that rice and quinoa starches were not correlated to each other. The PC-2 axis is related to the levels of modification, where the spread along PC-2 varied from native on the positive PC-2 to negative PC-2 for the highest levels of modification. Amylose content did not influence the digestibility of the starches, i.e. SDS, RDS and RS fraction of starches. PCA explained that SCFA types (acetylated, propionylated and butyrylated) did not highly influence starch properties compared to levels of modification.



Figure 16. PCA loading plot presented in bi-plot of native and SCFA starches at different types and levels of modification.

In summary, **Paper II** indicated that SCFA starches display various physicochemical and functional properties depending on the types of SCFA and levels of modification. From a nutritional point of view, modification of SCFA-rice and SCFA-quinoa starches at the highest level of modification can result in a high RS fraction. Esterification of starch with SCFA can potentially improve the functional properties of starch as a potential ingredient in food or pharmaceutical applications.

# Formulation and stability of SCFA starch Pickering emulsions

#### Effect of starch concentration on Pickering emulsions droplet size

Size distribution of emulsion droplets is a common measure of the stability of emulsion in a given formulation. At the highest starch concentration, SCFA-quinoa starch Pickering emulsions had the smallest average droplet sizes compared to emulsion stabilized by SCFA-rice starches (Figure 17). The smaller the granule size, the more surface there is to cover at the same starch mass [99]. A higher starch concentration allows better stabilization of the Pickering emulsions. This results from the increased amount of available stabilizer surfaces due to the presence of a sufficient amount of starch particles that can immediately cover the droplet surfaces produced by the homogenizer [26, 33]. Conversely, at the lowest starch concentration, large droplet sizes were observed, attributed to an insufficient amount of starch particles to cover the oil droplet surfaces.



Figure 17. Volume frequency particle size distribution of acetylated, propionylated and butyrylated rice and quinoa starch emulsions at the highest level of modification with 50, 100, 200, 400 and 800 mg starch/mL of oil.

#### Effect of levels of modification on Pickering emulsion droplet size

In this work, the stability of Pickering emulsions stabilized by native and SCFA starch modified with different levels of modification were investigated. Native quinoa starch had a better emulsifying capacity compared to the native rice starch as was shown by the smaller droplet size distribution of native quinoa Pickering emulsions (NQE) compared to native rice starch Pickering emulsions (NRE), which was represented by the mode  $D_{(4,3)}$  of  $51.8 \pm 0.7 \mu m$  and  $80.4 \pm 7.2 \mu m$ , respectively. The first reason for the better emulsifying capacity of quinoa starch was due to the smaller granule sizes that offer larger surface coverage. The second reason was attributed to the higher amount of surface protein, which acts as a natural hydrophobic domain that improves the emulsifying capacity of native quinoa starch. The high protein content in guinoa starch may contribute to a better wettability of starch particles compared to rice starch. Modification of starches with SCFA groups improved the emulsifying capacity, as indicated by the reduction in the droplet sizes and the growth in the volume frequency of the peak representing emulsion droplets as the levels of modification increased. Also, the amount of non-adsorbed starch (free starch) decreased as chain length and level of modification increased, which is another indication of the emulsifying capacity improving (Figure 18). The volume of the emulsion phase was increased in all quinoa-based starch Pickering emulsions that can also be observed by visual observation (Figure 19).

From Figure 18, low levels of acetyl led to the presence of more free starch in the continuous phase. In addition, poor emulsifying properties were indicated by the volume frequency data (Figure 18). This was supported by Hong [153], who stated that the hydrophobicity of starch increases as a result of acylation, which in turn improves emulsifying capacity. It was noted that native quinoa had a better emulsifying capacity than acetylated and propionylated quinoa starches at the lowest level of modification. The protein traces in native starch that can act as natural hydrophobic domains improves emulsifying capacity [33]. The decreased protein content in SCFA starches (**Paper II**) resulted from the removal of protein during the washing steps needed for the esterification.

The mean droplet size of acetylated and propionylated quinoa stabilized emulsions decreased as the levels of modification increased. However, this trend was not observed in butyrylated quinoa emulsions, where the droplet sizes increased as the levels of modification increased. This could be due to the higher extent of droplet aggregation in butyrylated quinoa starch emulsions, as can be seen in micrographs (Figure 21), and the fact that the sizes measured by light scattering were the size of these aggregates rather than a single droplet. Butyrylated quinoa at the lowest level of modification had an emulsifying capacity similar to that of the highest level of acetylated and propionylated quinoa. Thus, to achieve better emulsifying capacity with a low level of modification, increasing the acyl chain length of short-chain fatty acid could be one solution to improve starch adsorption at the oil droplet surfaces. After 50 days of storage, an increase in droplet size (>50  $\mu$ m) was observed in native

and SCFA-rice starch Pickering emulsions, while the size of most of the quinoa starch Pickering emulsion droplets remained below 50  $\mu$ m.



Figure 18. Volume frequency particle size distribution of native rice and quinoa suspensions, native and SCFA starch Pickering emulsions.

## Macro-structure of starch Pickering emulsions formulated with native starch and starches with varying levels of SCFA modification

Freshly prepared emulsions showed that native and SCFA-rice starch Pickering emulsions at all levels of modification and chain lengths led to free starch and/or emulsion, which sediments at the bottom of the measuring cells, or a thin layer of emulsion phase or free oil on the top. This observation was observed by visual observation as presented in Figure 19, and was also examined using the S-MLS (Figures 22 and 23). Meanwhile, native and SCFA-quinoa Pickering emulsions displayed more emulsion phase was formed in all cases with subsequent sedimentation or creaming depending on the resulting emulsion droplet buoyancy (i.e. the relative volume of oil to the amount of starch covering it). Theoretical calculation of emulsion droplet density was performed by the inclusion of the density of starch particles (Figure 21). Theoretically, rice starch stabilized Pickering emulsions tend to sediment due to the higher droplet density, compared to quinoa starch Pickering emulsions at all levels of modification. In this work, it was expected that SCFA-quinoa starch Pickering emulsions would form a cream layer on the top phase due to their small droplets and were believed to have a lower droplet density. However, the cream layer was only present at acyl content above 2.54% acetyl and 3.25% propionyl. The sediment layer in quinoa starch Pickering emulsions was due to the close packing of starch adsorb on the oil droplets (Figure 20). On top of that, the attraction between small emulsion droplets and aggregates might entrap some free starch. This increased the effective density of particle-laden drops of the dispersed phase relative to the continuous phase, hence droplets tended to sink.



Figure 19. Images of 200 mg starch per mL oil of native starch suspensions, native and SCFA starches on day 1 and day 50. The percentage in the images represents the levels of modification.



Figure 20. Micrograph images of Pickering emulsions stabilized by native (A: rice, and E: quinoa) and highest modification levels of SCFA starches; acetylated (B: rice, and F: quinoa), propionylated (C: rice, and G: quinoa), and butyrylated (D: rice, and H: quinoa) at formulation of 200 mg starch per mL oil.



Figure 21. Theoretical emulsion droplet density of rice and quinoa emulsions, if the density is above the continuous phase, the particle or droplet will sink.

#### Emulsion index (EI) of SCFA starch Pickering emulsions

Emulsion index is a measure of the emulsified layer in an emulsion system which is an indication of emulsion stability [17, 154]. With a range of 58.7–83.0% the SCFAquinoa starch Pickering emulsions had a higher EI compared to SCFA-rice starch Pickering emulsions, with an EI in a range of 12.0–36.5%. Native rice and quinoa starch emulsions presented the lowest EI, which was 9.5% and 44.4%, respectively. Sedimentation and creaming rapidly occurred in the native and SCFA-rice starch Pickering emulsions. In contrast, droplet migration took more time in quinoa starch Pickering emulsions, owing to the lower density differences between the dispersed and continuous phases (Figure 22 and 23). Quinoa starch Pickering emulsion droplets were smaller than rice starch Pickering emulsions. Hence, there was a smaller density difference between the droplets and the continuous phase in the emulsion system [20].









#### Stability kinetics of SCFA starch Pickering emulsions

The stability of the Pickering emulsion over time was evaluated using the Turbiscan Stability Index (TSI). The TSI integrates all of the variations detected in the samples in terms of size and/or concentration. An increase in the TSI<sub>T</sub> value during storage is therefore interpreted as emulsion droplet migration leading to local variations of the concentration in the bottom and top of the sample (sedimentation or creaming processes), or an increase in mean droplet sizes (caused by coalescence) that can lead to global variations in the middle of the sample. A low TSI<sub>T</sub> value in SCFArice and SCFA-quinoa starch Pickering emulsions means that those emulsions were more stable than their corresponding native forms. Better stability was achieved at higher DS. The longer the chain lengths of SCFA, the lower the BS intensity at the bottom part of SCFA-rice and SCFA-quinoa starch Pickering emulsions. The height of the bottom layer present became wider (Figure 22 and 23). This resulted in the layer of emulsion being less compact, with the presence of droplets and free starch granules. The presence of free starch was noted at the bottom part of the sample for native rice starch emulsions, increasing the BS intensity in that part. Free oil was observed in native and 3.49% acetylated rice starch emulsions after 50 days of storage,  $10.2\% \pm 0.7$  and  $8.9\% \pm 1.1$ , respectively (Figure 22).

In summary, **Paper III** demonstrated that modification in SCFA-rice and SCFAquinoa starches improved their emulsifying capacity. The substitution SCFA group on starch molecules increased the hydrophobicity and thereby the emulsifying capacity of rice and quinoa starch granules. Increasing starch concentration, level of modification and SCFA acyl chain length resulted in a decrease in droplet sizes, free oil and free starch, as well as better storage stability during the evaluated storage period (50 days).

# Simulated *in vitro* digestion of SCFA starch Pickering emulsions

#### Emulsifying properties of SCFA starch Pickering emulsions

In vitro digestion of Pickering emulsions is an inherently interfacial process as enzymes will be acting on the surface of starch (amylase) and on the interface of oil-water drops (lipase) for hydrolysis to take place. It is therefore important to measure the emulsion droplet size, which can influence the rate of lipolysis. SCFA starches have shown a great emulsifying capacity, as presented by Abdul Hadi et al., [29] (**Paper III**). Thus, further investigation was carried out in **Paper IV** to investigate *in vitro* digestion of SCFA starch Pickering emulsions with respect to starch hydrolysis and lipolysis. With the formulation of 30% of oil content, native rice and quinoa starch demonstrated droplet size of  $53.6 \pm 10.1 \,\mu\text{m}$  and  $36.0 \pm 1.0 \,\mu\text{m}$ 

μm, respectively, which was significantly different (P < 0.05) compared to SCFA starch Pickering emulsions. SCFA starch Pickering emulsions exhibited small droplet sizes compared to their native forms. A negative correlation between the SCFA chain length and droplet size was observed, where droplet size decreased as the SCFA chain length increased (NRE > RAE > RPE > RBE) (Figure 24). The mean droplet sizes of SCFA-rice starch Pickering emulsions were  $45.2 \pm 6.5 \mu m$  for acetylated,  $41.2 \pm 4.6 \mu m$  for propionylated, and  $36.7 \pm 5.5 \mu m$  for butyrylated rice starch Pickering emulsions. Quinoa starch stabilized Pickering emulsions gave smaller droplet sizes compared to rice, while a similar trend of decreasing size as the chain length increase was observed (NQE > QAE > QPE > QBE). The droplet size of acetylated, propionylated and butyrylated quinoa starch Pickering emulsions were  $29.6 \pm 3.7 \mu m$ ,  $31.7 \pm 1.3 \mu m$  and  $31.0 \pm 2.4 \mu m$ , respectively

Microscopy images showed that SCFA-rice starch particle adsorption on the oil droplets was improved by esterification (Figure 25). Butyrylated rice starch was observed to achieve better droplet surface coverage compared to the native or acetylated and propionylated starches. The SCFA-quinoa starch granules had better surface coverage where starch particles covered the surface of oil droplets to a higher extent. Both native rice and quinoa starch granules were also able to be adsorbed on the oil droplets due to their affinity towards oil, which was attributed to the surface protein of starch granules; however, their performance was not optimal [33].



Figure 24. Volume frequency particle size distribution of native starch suspensions, native and SCFA starch stabilized Pickering emulsions; (A) rice starch, (B) quinoa starch, bulk oil and polysorbate 20 stabilized emulsions.



Figure 25. Microscopy images of native, SCFA-rice and SCFA-quinoa starch stabilized Pickering emulsions and polysorbate 20 stabilized emulsions.

#### Starch hydrolysis

Starch particles are used to stabilize Pickering emulsions by covering the surface of oil droplets. In this case, starch acts as a physical barrier for oil which may first be digested by  $\alpha$ -amylases before the lipase reaches the lipids [111]. From this result, the action of  $\alpha$ -amylase in the oral phase was not influenced by the type of SCFA starches. No starch hydrolysis occurred during simulated gastric digestion, as the  $\alpha$ -amylase was deactivated in the acidic environment of the gastric phase (pH 1.2) (Figure 26). The extent of starch hydrolysis was accelerated by the addition of pancreatic amylase in the small intestinal phase. Native rice and quinoa starches exhibited the highest amount of digested starch, since native starches are easily digestible compared to esterify starches, as was shown in **Paper II**. Furthermore, adsorbed native starches were more easily displaced from the interface of oil

droplets to the bulk aqueous phase compared to esterified starches. In this condition, the displaced starches were free in the aqueous phase, creating more total area available for the action of the pancreatic  $\alpha$ -amylase to attack the starch granules' surface. A proposed mechanism is illustrated in Figure 27. Compared to the native starches, butyrylated rice and quinoa starches showed the lowest amount of digested starch within 120 mins of intestinal digestion. Starch modification results in an increase in resistant starch fraction (RS) (**Paper II**), in addition to increasing the hydrophobicity of starch granules, which delayed the action of  $\alpha$ -amylase on the starch substrate [70, 92, 149, 155, 156]. The total digested starch at the end of digestion time for RBE and QBE was  $52.3\% \pm 4.5$  and  $45.6\% \pm 4.6$ , respectively. Butyrylated starch contained more resistant starch, which means that starch digestion is slower within the 120 min of intestinal digestion. Moreover, in this study, it seems that stronger adsorption of butyrylated starch on the surface of the droplets owing to the higher surface hydrophobicity limits the accessibility of pancreatic  $\alpha$ -amylase to the site of starch substrate.



Figure 26. The amount of maltose produced from hydrolysis of native and SCFA starch stabilized Pickering emulsions; (A) native and SCFA-rice starch stabilized Pickering emulsions and (B) native and SCFA-quinoa starch stabilized Pickering emulsions.



Figure 27. Proposed schematic illustration of starch and lipid *in vitro* digestion of starch stabilized emulsion. Comparison of Pickering emulsions system with (A) complete particles surface coverage and (B) incomplete particles surface coverage.

#### In vitro digestion of lipid

The adsorption of solid particles like starch to stabilized Pickering emulsions creates interfacial layers with different thickness of surface coverage, which can alter the lipid digestion profile in the small intestine. In addition, lipid digestion is governed by the binding of gastrointestinal components (i.e. bile salts, calcium, or enzyme). Therefore, it is important to investigate the capability of solid particles to protect oil drops from lipid digestion. With such knowledge, lipolysis profiles can be modulated, for example, to reduce the extent of lipolysis induce satiety as well as control delivery of encapsulated bioactive components. In this work, lipolysis was conducted in native and SCFA starch stabilized Pickering emulsions, as well as O/W emulsions stabilized by a surfactant (polysorbate 20), with a mixture of MCT oil and phosphate buffer without the addition of an emulsifier (bulk oil) as control. The control emulsion stabilized by polysorbate 20 was formulated to have similar particle size distribution to that of the Pickering emulsions. In general, all emulsion samples exhibited a relatively similar pattern of lipid digestion, as presented in Figure 28. It was observed that the release of free fatty acids rapidly increased at the initial stage of lipolysis, followed by a gradual increase until it reached a constant value at the end of lipolysis.

During the first 30 min, native and acetylated rice starch Pickering emulsions showed a lower extent of lipid digestion, which was similar to that of the bulk oil (Figure 28). This was due to the poor stability of emulsions with larger droplet size and the presence of free oil, thus lowering the total surface area available for
lipolysis. The initial rate of lipolysis for propionylated and butyrylated rice starch Pickering emulsions was higher attributed to the better emulsifying capacity of their corresponding starches, which created emulsions with smaller average droplet sizes, and thus a larger surface area to volume ratio. This was due to the improved hydrophobicity of these starches, which made them able to have strong particle adsorption on the surface of the oil droplets. Overall, a continuation of the lipolysis revealed that the extent of release of free fatty acids from 1 hour until 3 hours of lipid digestion of native and SCFA-rice Pickering emulsions was not significantly different (P > 0.05), with a range of 65–82%. However, native and SCFA-rice starch Pickering emulsions showed a lower extent of lipolysis than the surfactant-based emulsions.

Observation of lipid digestion of the native and SCFA-quinoa stabilized Pickering emulsions had a similar extent of lipolysis during the 10 min of lipolysis (Figure 28). However, the lipid digestion profile started to change after 10 min, where native and acetylated quinoa starch Pickering emulsions had no significant difference until the end of 180 min lipolysis (P > 0.05). A lower extent of lipolysis was obtained from propionylated and butyrylated quinoa starch stabilized Pickering emulsions, which were 74.5%  $\pm$  3.7 and 58.4%  $\pm$  4.2, respectively. Butyrylated quinoa starch Pickering emulsions were able to achieve the lowest extent of lipolysis as a result of higher surface coverage of butyryated quinoa particles surrounding the surface of oil droplets. From the proposed mechanism in Figure 27, the complete surface coverage of particles acts as a physical barrier to prevent the lipase enzyme and bile salts from accessing the lipid droplets. Moreover, strong adsorption of starch particles due to the higher hydrophobicity was shown to prevent, or at least limit, the displacement of starch particles by the bile salts. As a result, the lipase's access to the lipid droplets and other digestion constituents was restricted [118, 157, 158].



Figure 28. The amount of free fatty acids (FFA) released during simulated small intestinal digestion of starch stabilized Pickering emulsions; (A) native and SCFA-rice starch, (B) native and SCFA-quinoa starch (B), bulk oil and polysorbate 20 stabilized emulsions.

The surfactant-based emulsion has the highest extent of lipolysis (94%  $\pm$  1.4) indicating that almost all of the triglycerides in the sample were hydrolyzed. According to Xiao et al., [117], the stabilization mechanism of polysorbate 20 relies on creating a thin layer of the emulsifier at the interface of the oil droplets and is insufficient to protect oil droplets from lipolysis. Furthermore, the small molecular size of polysorbate 20 facilitates its removal by bile salts as a result of small desorption energy compared to starch particles [159, 160]. In contrast, a low extent of lipolysis, 67.2%  $\pm$  2.9 was achieved in bulk oil. Even though bulk oil was not protected by any means of stabilizer, its large droplets resulted in the small available surface area for the lipolysis to takes place [124].

The study presented in **Paper IV** summarized that SCFA starches with the longest SCFA chain length displayed the highest stability towards digestion. Esterification of SCFA group on starch molecules hinders starch hydrolysis compared to its native forms. The low extent of hydrolyzed starch in butyrylated starches, particularly for quinoa starch Pickering emulsions, resulted from the high resistance to starch

hydrolysis. Furthermore, a lower amount of free starch in the continuous phase was detected, implying that more starch granules were adsorbed on the oil droplets. In turn, adsorbed starch granules provided less starch substrate site for starch hydrolysis. The extent of lipolysis was retarded by the stronger adsorption and higher packing efficiency of butyrylated starch, which limited the displacement of starch particles from the interface. This, in turn, limited the transport of lipase enzyme to the oil surface for lipid digestion. This study is beneficial for the application of SCFA starches as an emulsifier in the emulsion-based delivery systems, where controlled release and targeted delivery of bioactive compound to the designated site of gastro-intestinal tract is to be obtained.

## Conclusions

SCFA-modified starch was successfully prepared via esterification. The presence of new peaks obtained from FTIR and <sup>1</sup>H-NMR has shown that the esterification of SCFA groups was successfully achieved on starch molecules. The degree of substitution quantified by a direct stoichiometric method showed similar values to the FTIR and <sup>1</sup>H-NMR methods. Thus, the stoichiometric method can be an alternative and faster way to determine the degree of substitution as well as to control the esterification *in situ*.

This work showed SCFA-rice and SCFA-quinoa starches have distinct characteristics compared to their original native form depending on type and level of modification. Amylose, protein content, as well as thermal and pasting properties of SCFA starches decreased by esterification. The textural properties and paste clarity were improved by reducing gel hardness and increasing paste clarity. In terms of functional properties, SCFA starches at the highest level of modification displayed a high fraction of resistant starch. The multivariate principal component analysis provided new perspectives on finding relationships between the different parameters of SCFA starches. The results have shown that the level of modification was more influential on the starch properties than the types of SCFA.

The emulsifying capacity of SCFA starch Pickering emulsions was improved with an increase in the level of modification, the length of the SCFA acyl chain length, and the concentration of starch used in the formulation. Butyrylated and propionylated quinoa starch granules at the highest level of modification produced the smallest emulsion droplet size, higher emulsifying index, no observed presence of free oil, less free starch, and were stable up to 50 days.

In vitro digestion studies of starch stabilized Pickering emulsions showed that SCFA starches were capable of delaying starch hydrolysis and lipolysis compared to native starches and polysorbate 20. Modification of starch increased the resistant starch content in SCFA starches, thereby delaying  $\alpha$ -amylase action. Starches modified with the longest SCFA chain length led to stronger starch adsorption on the interface of oil droplets and also created a closely-packed barrier. This may have limited the surface area of adsorbed starch granules exposed to hydrolysis. Additionally, as the hydrophobicity of the starch granules increased by increasing the degree of modification, a higher surface packing was observed. This may have been the reason for the reduction in the rate of lipolysis due to the strong adsorption of starch

particles that were not as readily displaced by bile salts, thereby limiting the access of lipase to the oil surface of the droplets. This work has proven that it is important to modify starch granules such that they can achieve high emulsifying capacity but at the same time have low susceptibility to digestion. This demonstrated that inhibition of starch hydrolysis in the upper digestion stages (oral and stomach) and slow digestion in the small intestine have the potential to deliver a larger fraction of undigested starch to the large intestine for bacterial fermentation. This can both generate SCFA's via the metabolism of the gut microflora and release the SCFAs from the undigested starch particles during bacterial fermentation.

## Future perspectives

The application and functionality of SCFA starch Pickering emulsions are two complex subjects that require further investigation. Increasing the depth of understanding regarding the relationship between SCFA starches and their functionality in Pickering emulsions is highly recommended. They are many studies that could be covered in this area as stated below:

- 1. Starch modification is able to improve the hydrophobicity of starch granules. An investigation should therefore be implemented to locate the site where esterification takes place, whether on the external part of the starch granules (granule surface) or in the internal structure of the starch granules. Advanced instruments such as Spectroscopic PhotoElectron and Low Energy Electron Microscope (SPELEEM) may be capable of detecting the internal composition changes of modified starch.
- 2. Other than the physical stability of Pickering emulsions, investigation of oxidative stability could be investigated. Oil is one of the main parts of the Pickering emulsion system. Depending on the type of oil used, Pickering emulsions can be subject to lipid oxidation. Understanding lipid oxidation in Pickering emulsions allows researchers to utilize a beneficial oil, such as highly unsaturated fatty acids.
- 3. SCFA starch Pickering emulsions have shown to reduce digestibility and limit the extent of lipolysis. Further exploration involving encapsulations as well as the release profile of bioactive components or probiotic are topics of interest.
- 4. Lastly, an *in vivo* study that investigates the gastrointestinal fate of SCFAmodified starch should be considered to determine to what extent SCFA is delivered to the colon via the SCFA starch formulation.

## Acknowledgement

First and foremost, my deepest gratitude goes first to my main supervisor **Prof. Marilyn Rayner**, who opened an opportunity for me to pursue a PhD at Lund University. Her guidance, persistent help, tolerance, and consistent support kept me constantly engaged with my research and made my PhD journey go well. You made things as perfect as you can!

Thank you to my deputy supervisor, **Dr. Ali Marefati**, for assistance at every stage of this research project. I am deeply grateful to have conducted my research project with such an incredible and supportive supervisor. I truly enjoyed working with you in a research environment that stimulates original thinking, and you made my lab works fun and were always enthusiastic with results.

I am also incredibly grateful to my deputy supervisor, **Assoc. Prof. Dr. María Matos** from the University of Oviedo, Asturias, Spain, for being a supportive research team. Thank you for sharing your incredible knowledge on emulsion stability, it was such a privilege and honor to work with you.

My sincere thanks to **Dr. Berthold Wiege**, from Max Rubner-Institut, Detmold, Germany, for the invaluable guidance with starch modification and calculations. Thanks to you and **Iva**, my weekends in Detmold were occupied with sightseeing and golf club visits. I won't forget your great hospitality. Thanks to **Sebastian Stabenau** from the Max Rubner-Institut, Detmold, Germany, for your help in starch modification, FTIR and being such a good friend.

A warm thank you to **Prof. Tommy Nylander** and **Dr. Ben Humphreys** for giving me an opportunity to work closely with the SAXS and get a chance to run trial at the MAXIV Lab. Thank you **Dr. Jeanette Purhagen** for your help with the instruments and PCA, I truly enjoyed working with you. Thanks to **Maria Baumgarten** for your guide with SEM and those intellectual discussion. The Halloween starch picture was hilarious! Thank you to **Göran Carlström** for your kind assistance with the NMR and your help in validating the analysis.

I would like to extend my acknowledgements to my colleagues in the Department of Food Technology, Engineering and Nutrition, Lund University, Sweden. It was an honor to work in such a very nice working environment. Special thanks to **Dan Johansson, Hans Bolinsson, Olexandr Fedkiv** and **Liselotte Eriksson** for the technical, laboratory and administration support. Thank you **Peter Eklöv** for the

finance-related matters. My officemate, Ia Rosenlind, thank you for your care when I had an allergy, and talks we had. I hope you'll come again to Malaysia! Thank you to Dr. Åsa Håkansson for your advice and courage. It was so nice to experience a Swedish Christmas dinner together. Thank you to Prof. Federico Gomez for brighten up the morning fika with your humour and laughs. I would like to extend my appreciation to Pamela and Daniel, who always accompanied me when I had to stay late at work, for many memorable evenings coffee breaks, and keep in touch with me, especially during these Corona times. Vanessa, thanks for the great moments we had. Those days when I spent my time in your office and the great time when we were in Prague! Thanks Yi for the valuable exam tips, your help with the courses, always listening and giving me words of encouragement. Thank you to Afina, Atma, Hamed, Izalin, Sander, Nima, Santiago, Sareh, Shuai, Cecy, Klara, Elisabeth, Elin, Stina, Juan, Peyman, Randi, Kajsa, Karolina, Amanda, Cecilia, Johanna, Claudia, Ida-Marie, and Mukul for the great time during the coffee breaks, PhD parties, study visits, courses, hiking, camping and many more.... Thanks Kadri for your patience when you were teaching me Swedish so I could pronounce "Sverige" correctly. Thanks Fera, I had a great time when you were in Lund, my hiking, photographer and cat lover buddy.

Getting through my PhD required more than academic support, and I have many people to thank for listening to and, at times, having to tolerate me over the past four and half years. I cannot begin to express my gratitude and appreciation for their friendship. Grant and Pui, it was a blessing to have a very good friends and neighbour like you. Thanks for the back-to-back board game sessions, never-ending gatherings, and introducing to me delicious foods from around the world. I'll miss your crying tiger! Pui, you are so observant and thoughtful in giving me support even though I didn't realize that I needed it until you offered. And of course, your care to Luna was incredible! To Imelda and Hilger, thank you for your joy and kindness, showing me that I can rely on both of you and helping me to "overthink" my problems less. I wish I could spend more time with both of you! Thanks Yana for the friendship we have. I had a lot of fun and dramas when we were travelling. There will be plenty more trips to go on after this! Ena, Faizal, Amir, Tiha and Yob, thank you for the countless help in so many things that I can't describe specifically, since the day I arrived at Copenhagen Airport. Those nice memories of the beaches, Eid-celebrations, games and karaoke, nutritional support, and afterwork talks. You were the best logistic team in Sweden! To have all of you in my PhD journey was a blessing! Thanks Aya, Thomas, Kak Lina, Kak Chah, Kak Lin, Abg Yie, Kah Yong, June, Gustaf, Zie, His, Iqbal, Alia, Ati, Bob, Kak Lang, and Abg Zahar and all of my other Malaysian and Singaporean friends for those nice gatherings, support and very helpful when needed. I would also like to thank my friends, Akma and Aizuddin, for all your encouragement despite the distance.

Most importantly, my love and thanks go to my parents, **Abdul Hadi** and **Zarah** for always supporting my decisions and sacrifice your time and energy to take care of my cats. Thank you to my little sisters, **Wadhihah** and **Nabihah** for helping me with all matters. **Tok Zainun, Cik Ngah, Mak Jee, Achik, Cik Su, Izzati** and **Haziq** also deserve my wholehearted thanks as well.

My deepest appreciation goes to my best friend and life companion, Luna the cat. Thank you for the endless love, and emotional comfort you have given to me throughout my PhD years.

And finally, last but by no means least, I would like to gratefully acknowledge the financial support and generosity of **The Ministry of Higher Education Malaysia** and **University Malaysia of Terengganu** throughout my study.

## References

- 1. McClements, D.J., *Food emulsions: principles, practices, and techniques.* 2016, Boca Raton: CRC Press.
- Dickinson, E., *Emulsion Stability*, in *Food Hydrocolloids: Structures*, *Properties, and Functions*, K. Nishinari and E. Doi, Editors. 1993, Springer US: Boston, MA. p. 387-398.
- 3. Piacentini, E., *Emulsion*, in *Encyclopedia of Membranes*, E. Drioli and L. Giorno, Editors. 2016, Springer Berlin Heidelberg: Berlin, Heidelberg. p. 679-682.
- 4. Dickinson, E., *Hydrocolloids at interfaces and the influence on the properties of dispersed systems*. Food Hydrocolloids, 2003. **17**(1): p. 25-39.
- 5. McClements, D.J., Comments on viscosity enhancement and depletion flocculation by polysaccharides. Food Hydrocolloids, 2000. 14(2): p. 173-177.
- 6. Walstra, P., *Principles of emulsion formation*. Chemical Engineering Science, 1993. **48**(2): p. 333-349.
- 7. Tadros, T.F., *Emulsion Formation and Stability*. 2013: Wiley.
- 8. Dejmek, P. and M. Rayner, *Engineering Aspects of Food Emulsification and Homogenization*. Contemporary Food Engineering. 2015, Boca Raton, Florida: CRC Press.
- 9. McClements, D.J., E.A. Decker, and J. Weiss, *Emulsion-Based Delivery* Systems for Lipophilic Bioactive Components. Journal of Food Science, 2007. 72(8): p. R109-R124.
- Walker, R., E.A. Decker, and D.J. McClements, Development of food-grade nanoemulsions and emulsions for delivery of omega-3 fatty acids: opportunities and obstacles in the food industry. Food & Function, 2015. 6(1): p. 41-54.
- 11. Papagianni, M. and S. Anastasiadou, *Encapsulation of Pediococcus acidilactici cells in corn and olive oil microcapsules emulsified by peptides and stabilized with xanthan in oil-in-water emulsions: Studies on cell viability under gastro-intestinal simulating conditions.* Enzyme and Microbial Technology, 2009. **45**(6): p. 514-522.
- 12. Dickinson, E., *Food emulsions and foams: Stabilization by particles.* Current Opinion in Colloid & Interface Science, 2010. **15**(1): p. 40-49.
- 13. Dickinson, E., Use of nanoparticles and microparticles in the formation and stabilization of food emulsions. Trends in Food Science & Technology, 2012. 24(1): p. 4-12.

- 14. Pickering, S.U., *CXCVI.—Emulsions*. Journal of the Chemical Society, Transactions, 1907. **91**(0): p. 2001-2021.
- 15. Boostani, S., et al., *The influence of emulsion parameters on physical stability and rheological properties of Pickering emulsions stabilized by hordein nanoparticles.* Food Hydrocolloids, 2020. **101**: p. 105520.
- 16. Saari, H., et al., *Preparation and Characterization of Starch Particles for Use in Pickering Emulsions*. Cereal Chemistry Journal, 2016. **93**(2): p. 116-124.
- Matos, M., et al., Combined emulsifying capacity of polysaccharide particles of different size and shape. Carbohydrate Polymers, 2017. 169(Supplement C): p. 127-138.
- 18. Tcholakova, S., N.D. Denkov, and A. Lips, *Comparison of solid particles, globular proteins and surfactants as emulsifiers.* Physical Chemistry Chemical Physics, 2008. **10**(12): p. 1608-1627.
- 19. Binks, B.P., *Particles as surfactants—similarities and differences*. Current Opinion in Colloid & Interface Science, 2002. 7(1): p. 21-41.
- 20. Rayner, M., et al., *Biomass-based particles for the formulation of Pickering type emulsions in food and topical applications*. Colloids and Surfaces A: Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects, 2014. **458**: p. 48-62.
- Aveyard, R., B.P. Binks, and J.H. Clint, *Emulsions stabilised solely by colloidal particles*. Advances in Colloid and Interface Science, 2003. 100-102: p. 503-546.
- 22. Binks, B.P. and J.H. Clint, *Solid Wettability from Surface Energy Components: Relevance to Pickering Emulsions.* Langmuir, 2002. **18**(4): p. 1270-1273.
- 23. Berton-Carabin, C.C. and K. Schroën, *Pickering Emulsions for Food Applications: Background, Trends, and Challenges.* Annual Review of Food Science and Technology, 2015. **6**(1): p. 263-297.
- 24. Frelichowska, J., M.A. Bolzinger, and Y. Chevalier, *Effects of solid particle content on properties of o/w Pickering emulsions*. J Colloid Interface Sci, 2010. **351**(2): p. 348-56.
- 25. Liang, R., et al., Preparation of Pickering emulsions with short, medium and long chain triacylglycerols stabilized by starch nanocrystals and their in vitro digestion properties. RSC Advances, 2016. 6(101): p. 99496-99508.
- 26. Timgren, A., et al., *Starch particles for food based Pickering emulsions*. Procedia Food Science, 2011. 1: p. 95-103.
- 27. Yusoff, A. and B.S. Murray, *Modified starch granules as particle-stabilizers of oil-in-water emulsions*. Food Hydrocolloids, 2011. **25**(1): p. 42-55.
- 28. Marefati, A., et al., *Pickering emulsifiers based on hydrophobically modified small granular starches Part II Effects of modification on emulsifying capacity.* Carbohydrate Polymers, 2018. **201**: p. 416-424.

- Abdul Hadi, N., et al., Characterization and stability of short-chain fatty acids modified starch Pickering emulsions. Carbohydrate Polymers, 2020.
  240: p. 116264.
- 30. Ge, S., et al., *Characterizations of Pickering emulsions stabilized by starch nanoparticles: Influence of starch variety and particle size.* Food Chemistry, 2017. **234**(Supplement C): p. 339-347.
- Saari, H., M. Rayner, and M. Wahlgren, *Effects of starch granules differing* in size and morphology from different botanical sources and their mixtures on the characteristics of Pickering emulsions. Food Hydrocolloids, 2019.
   89: p. 844-855.
- 32. Marefati, A. and M. Rayner, *Starch granule stabilized Pickering emulsions:* an eight-year stability study. Journal Of The Science Of Food And Agriculture, 2020.
- 33. Marefati, A., et al., *Pickering emulsifiers based on hydrophobically* modified small granular starches – Part I: Manufacturing and physicochemical characterization. Carbohydrate Polymers, 2017. **175**: p. 473-483.
- 34. Marku, D., et al., *Characterization of starch Pickering emulsions for potential applications in topical formulations*. International Journal of Pharmaceutics, 2012. **428**(1–2): p. 1-7.
- Song, X., et al., Preparation and characterizations of Pickering emulsions stabilized by hydrophobic starch particles. Food Hydrocolloids, 2015.
   45(Supplement C): p. 256-263.
- Linke, C. and S. Drusch, *Pickering emulsions in foods opportunities and limitations*. Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition, 2018. 58(12): p. 1971-1985.
- 37. Binks, B.P. and S.O. Lumsdon, *Catastrophic Phase Inversion of Water-in-Oil Emulsions Stabilized by Hydrophobic Silica*. Langmuir, 2000. **16**(6): p. 2539-2547.
- 38. Robins, M.M. and D.J. Hibberd, *Chapter 4 Emulsion Flocculation and Creaming*, in *Modern Aspects of Emulsion Science*. 1998, The Royal Society of Chemistry. p. 115-144.
- 39. Aveyard, R., et al., *Flocculation of Weakly Charged Oil–Water Emulsions*. Langmuir, 1999. **15**(4): p. 970-980.
- 40. Petsev, D.N., *Chapter 8 Theory of emulsion flocculation*, in *Interface Science and Technology*, D.N. Petsev, Editor. 2004, Elsevier. p. 313-350.
- 41. Mishchuk, N.O., *Chapter 9 Coalescence kinetics of Brownian emulsions*, in *Interface Science and Technology*, D.N. Petsev, Editor. 2004, Elsevier. p. 351-390.
- 42. Taylor, P., Ostwald ripening in emulsions. Advances in Colloid and Interface Science, 1998. **75**(2): p. 107-163.
- 43. Dickinson, E., Interpretation of emulsion phase inversion as a cusp catastrophe. Journal of Colloid and Interface Science, 1981. **84**(1): p. 284-287.

- 44. Perazzo, A., V. Preziosi, and S. Guido, *Phase inversion emulsification: Current understanding and applications*. Advances in Colloid and Interface Science, 2015. **222**: p. 581-599.
- 45. Preiss, J., 1 Plant starch synthesis, in Starch in Food, A.-C. Eliasson, Editor. 2004, Woodhead Publishing. p. 3-56.
- 46. Donald, A.M., 5 Understanding starch structure and functionality, in *Starch in Food*, A.-C. Eliasson, Editor. 2004, Woodhead Publishing. p. 156-184.
- 47. Cooke, D. and M.J. Gidley, *Loss of crystalline and molecular order during starch gelatinisation: origin of the enthalpic transition*. Carbohydrate Research, 1992. **227**: p. 103-112.
- 48. Jane, J.-l., *Chapter 6 Structural Features of Starch Granules II*, in *Starch (Third Edition)*, J. BeMiller and R. Whistler, Editors. 2009, Academic Press: San Diego. p. 193-236.
- 49. Giri, P., C. Tambe, and R. Narayan, Using Reactive Extrusion To Manufacture Greener Products: From Laboratory Fundamentals to Commercial Scale, in Biomass Extrusion and Reaction Technologies: Principles to Practices and Future Potential. 2018, American Chemical Society. p. 1-23.
- Wang, K., R.J. Henry, and R.G. Gilbert, *Causal Relations Among Starch Biosynthesis, Structure, and Properties.* Springer Science Reviews, 2014. 2(1): p. 15-33.
- 51. Lindeboom, N., P.R. Chang, and R.T. Tyler, *Analytical, Biochemical and Physicochemical Aspects of Starch Granule Size, with Emphasis on Small Granule Starches: A Review.* Starch Stärke, 2004. **56**(3-4): p. 89-99.
- 52. Haaj, S.B., A. Magnin, and S. Boufi, *Starch nanoparticles produced via ultrasonication as a sustainable stabilizer in Pickering emulsion polymerization.* RSC Advances, 2014. **4**(80): p. 42638-42646.
- 53. Bel Haaj, S., et al., *Starch nanocrystals and starch nanoparticles from waxy maize as nanoreinforcement: A comparative study.* Carbohydrate Polymers, 2016. **143**: p. 310-317.
- 54. Hao, Y., et al., *Preparation of starch nanocrystals through enzymatic pretreatment from waxy potato starch.* Carbohydrate Polymers, 2018. **184**: p. 171-177.
- 55. Li, G. and F. Zhu, *Quinoa starch: Structure, properties, and applications.* Carbohydrate Polymers, 2018. **181**: p. 851-861.
- 56. Martins, P.C., L.C. Gutkoski, and V.G. Martins, *Impact of acid hydrolysis* and esterification process in rice and potato starch properties. International Journal of Biological Macromolecules, 2018. **120**: p. 959-965.
- 57. Jackson, D.S., *STARCH* | *Structure, Properties, and Determination*, in *Encyclopedia of Food Sciences and Nutrition (Second Edition)*, B. Caballero, Editor. 2003, Academic Press: Oxford. p. 5561-5567.
- 58. Zhu, J., et al., *Study on supramolecular structural changes of ultrasonic treated potato starch granules.* Food Hydrocolloids, 2012. **29**(1): p. 116-122.

- 59. Mishra, S. and T. Rai, *Morphology and functional properties of corn, potato and tapioca starches*. Food Hydrocolloids, 2006. **20**(5): p. 557-566.
- 60. Prompiputtanapon, K., W. Sorndech, and S. Tongta, *Surface Modification* of *Tapioca Starch by Using the Chemical and Enzymatic Method.* Starch Stärke, 2020. **72**(3-4): p. 1900133.
- 61. Bao, J. and C.J. Bergman, 9 *The functionality of rice starch*, in *Starch in Food*, A.-C. Eliasson, Editor. 2004, Woodhead Publishing. p. 258-294.
- 62. Bertolini, A.a.C., *Starches: characterization, properties, and applications*. 2010, Boca Raton: Taylor & Francis.
- 63. Bao, J., et al., *Physical Properties of Octenyl Succinic Anhydride Modified Rice, Wheat, and Potato Starches.* Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 2003. **51**(8): p. 2283-2287.
- 64. Waterschoot, J., et al., *Pasting properties of blends of potato, rice and maize starches*. Food Hydrocolloids, 2014. **41**: p. 298-308.
- 65. Zhang, C., S.-T. Lim, and H.-J. Chung, *Physical modification of potato starch using mild heating and freezing with minor addition of gums.* Food Hydrocolloids, 2019. **94**: p. 294-303.
- 66. Leon, E., et al., *Pasting properties of transgenic lines of a commercial bread wheat expressing combinations of HMW glutenin subunit genes.* Journal of Cereal Science, 2010. **51**(3): p. 344-349.
- 67. Tahir, R., P.R. Ellis, and P.J. Butterworth, *The relation of physical properties of native starch granules to the kinetics of amylolysis catalysed by porcine pancreatic \alpha-amylase.* Carbohydrate Polymers, 2010. **81**(1): p. 57-62.
- 68. Zhang, G., M. Venkatachalam, and B.R. Hamaker, *Structural Basis for the Slow Digestion Property of Native Cereal Starches*. Biomacromolecules, 2006. 7(11): p. 3259-3266.
- 69. Man, J., et al., *Structural Changes of High-Amylose Rice Starch Residues following in Vitro and in Vivo Digestion*. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 2012. **60**(36): p. 9332-9341.
- 70. Bajka, B.H., et al., Butyrylated starch is less susceptible to enzymic hydrolysis and increases large-bowel butyrate more than high-amylose maize starch in the rat. British Journal of Nutrition, 2006. **96**(2): p. 276-282.
- 71. Englyst, H.N., S.M. Kingman, and J.H. Cummings, *Classification and measurement of nutritionally important starch fractions*. Eur J Clin Nutr, 1992. **46 Suppl 2**: p. S33-50.
- 72. Champ, M., 20 Resistant starch, in Starch in Food, A.-C. Eliasson, Editor. 2004, Woodhead Publishing. p. 560-574.
- 73. Englyst, K.N., et al., *Rapidly available glucose in foods: an in vitro measurement that reflects the glycemic response.* The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 1999. **69**(3): p. 448-454.
- 74. Miao, M., et al., *Slowly Digestible Starch—A Review*. Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition, 2015. **55**(12): p. 1642-1657.

- 75. Topping, D.L. and P.M. Clifton, Short-Chain Fatty Acids and Human Colonic Function: Roles of Resistant Starch and Nonstarch Polysaccharides. Physiological Reviews, 2001. **81**(3): p. 1031-1064.
- 76. Topping, D.L., M. Fukushima, and A.R. Bird, *Resistant starch as a prebiotic and synbiotic: state of the art.* Proceedings of the Nutrition Society, 2003. **62**(1): p. 171-176.
- 77. Birt, D.F., et al., *Resistant starch: promise for improving human health.* Advances in nutrition (Bethesda, Md.), 2013. **4**(6): p. 587-601.
- 78. Juszczak, L., Z. Oczadły, and D. Gałkowska, *Effect of Modified Starches* on *Rheological Properties of Ketchup*. Food and Bioprocess Technology, 2013. **6**(5): p. 1251-1260.
- 79. Fan, Y. and F. Picchioni, *Modification of starch: A review on the application of "green" solvents and controlled functionalization.* Carbohydrate Polymers, 2020. **241**: p. 116350.
- 80. Bashir, K. and M. Aggarwal, *Physicochemical, structural and functional properties of native and irradiated starch: a review.* Journal of Food Science and Technology, 2019. **56**(2): p. 513-523.
- 81. Hu, X., et al., *Improving properties of normal maize starch films using dualmodification:* Combination treatment of debranching and *hydroxypropylation*. International Journal of Biological Macromolecules, 2019. **130**: p. 197-202.
- 82. Ashogbon, A.O., *Dual modification of various starches: Synthesis, properties and applications.* Food Chemistry, 2021. **342**: p. 128325.
- Mathew, S. and T.E. Abraham, *Physico-chemical characterization of starch ferulates of different degrees of substitution*. Food Chemistry, 2007. 105(2): p. 579-589.
- 84. Rayner, M., et al., *Quinoa starch granules: a candidate for stabilising foodgrade Pickering emulsions.* J. Sci. Food Agric., 2012. **92**(9): p. 1841-1847.
- 85. Marefati, A., et al., *In vitro intestinal lipolysis of emulsions based on starch granule Pickering stabilization*. Food Hydrocolloids, 2019. **95**: p. 468-475.
- 86. Zainal Abiddin, N.F., A. Yusoff, and N. Ahmad, *Effect of octenylsuccinylation on physicochemical, thermal, morphological and stability of octenyl succinic anhydride (OSA) modified sago starch.* Food Hydrocolloids, 2018. **75**: p. 138-146.
- 87. Marefati, A., et al., *Storage and digestion stability of encapsulated curcumin in emulsions based on starch granule Pickering stabilization.* Food Hydrocolloids, 2017. **63**: p. 309-320.
- Annison, G., R.J. Illman, and D.L. Topping, Acetylated, Propionylated or Butyrylated Starches Raise Large Bowel Short-Chain Fatty Acids Preferentially When Fed to Rats. The Journal of Nutrition, 2003. 133(11): p. 3523-3528.
- Matthews, G.M., G.S. Howarth, and R.N. Butler, Short-Chain Fatty Acids Induce Apoptosis in Colon Cancer Cells Associated with Changes to Intracellular Redox State and Glucose Metabolism. Chemotherapy, 2012. 58(2): p. 102-109.

- 90. Colussi, R., et al., *Acetylation of rice starch in an aqueous medium for use in food*. LWT Food Science and Technology, 2015. **62**(2): p. 1076-1082.
- 91. Lin, D., et al., *Study on physicochemical properties, digestive properties and application of acetylated starch in noodles.* International Journal of Biological Macromolecules, 2019. **128**: p. 948-956.
- 92. Dai, D., et al., *Structural and functional characteristics of butyrylated maize starch*. LWT, 2019. **112**: p. 108254.
- 93. Lee-Fen, H., et al., *Characterisation of Physicochemical Properties of Propionylated Corn Starch and Its Application as Stabiliser*. Food Technology and Biotechnology, Vol 53, Iss 3, Pp 278-285 (2015), 2015(3): p. 278.
- 94. Santayanon, R. and J. Wootthikanokkhan, *Modification of cassava starch* by using propionic anhydride and properties of the starch-blended polyester polyurethane. Carbohydrate Polymers, 2003. **51**(1): p. 17-24.
- 95. Di Filippo, S., et al., Organocatalytic route for the synthesis of propionylated starch. Carbohydrate Polymers, 2016. **137**: p. 198-206.
- 96. Guida, C., A.C. Aguiar, and R.L. Cunha, *Green techniques for starch modification to stabilize Pickering emulsions: a current review and future perspectives.* Current Opinion in Food Science, 2021. **38**: p. 52-61.
- 97. McNamee, C.E., et al., *Rice Starch Particle Interactions at Air/Aqueous Interfaces-Effect of Particle Hydrophobicity and Solution Ionic Strength.* Frontiers in chemistry, 2018. **6**: p. 139-139.
- 98. Song, X., et al., *Particle-stabilizers modified from indica rice starches differing in amylose content*. Food Chemistry, 2014. **153**: p. 74-80.
- 99. Timgren, A., et al., *Emulsion stabilizing capacity of intact starch granules modified by heat treatment or octenyl succinic anhydride.* Food Sci Nutr, 2013. **1**(2): p. 157-71.
- 100. Frith, W.J., et al., Formation, Stability, and Rheology of Particle Stabilized Emulsions: Influence of Multivalent Cations. Industrial & Engineering Chemistry Research, 2008. **47**(17): p. 6434-6444.
- 101. Wu, J. and G.-H. Ma, *Recent Studies of Pickering Emulsions: Particles Make the Difference*. Small, 2016. **12**(34): p. 4633-4648.
- 102. Li, C., et al., *Pickering emulsions stabilized by native starch granules*. Colloids and Surfaces A: Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects, 2013.
   431(Supplement C): p. 142-149.
- 103. Li, J., et al., Joint Effects of Granule Size and Degree of Substitution on Octenylsuccinated Sweet Potato Starch Granules As Pickering Emulsion Stabilizers. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 2018. 66(17): p. 4541-4550.
- 104. Li, S., et al., Starch granules as Pickering emulsifiers: Role of octenylsuccinylation and particle size. Food Chemistry, 2019. 283: p. 437-444.
- 105. Bello-Pérez, L.A., et al., *Effect of the degree of substitution of octenyl succinic anhydride-banana starch on emulsion stability*. Carbohydrate Polymers, 2015. **132**: p. 17-24.

- 106. Minekus, M., et al., A standardised static in vitro digestion method suitable for food an international consensus. Food & Function, 2014. **5**(6): p. 1113-1124.
- 107. Brodkorb, A., et al., *INFOGEST static in vitro simulation of gastrointestinal food digestion*. Nature Protocols, 2019. **14**(4): p. 991-1014.
- 108. Mulet-Cabero, A.-I., et al., A standardised semi-dynamic in vitro digestion method suitable for food – an international consensus. Food & Function, 2020. 11(2): p. 1702-1720.
- 109. Sarkar, A., et al., Colloidal aspects of digestion of Pickering emulsions: Experiments and theoretical models of lipid digestion kinetics. Advances in Colloid and Interface Science, 2018.
- 110. Sarkar, A., et al., *In vitro digestion of Pickering emulsions stabilized by soft whey protein microgel particles: Influence of thermal treatment.* Soft Matter, 2016. **12**(15): p. 3558-3569.
- 111. McClements, D.J. and Y. Li, *Review of in vitro digestion models for rapid screening of emulsion-based systems*. Food Funct, 2010. **1**(1): p. 32-59.
- 112. Corstens, M.N., et al., *Food-grade micro-encapsulation systems that may induce satiety via delayed lipolysis: A review.* Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition, 2017. **57**(10): p. 2218-2244.
- 113. Vertzoni, M., et al., Impact of regional differences along the gastrointestinal tract of healthy adults on oral drug absorption: An UNGAP review. European Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences, 2019. **134**: p. 153-175.
- 114. Goodman, B.E., *Insights into digestion and absorption of major nutrients in humans*. Adv Physiol Educ, 2010. **34**(2): p. 44-53.
- 115. Li, X.-M., et al., Chitosan hydrochloride/carboxymethyl starch complex nanogels stabilized Pickering emulsions for oral delivery of β-carotene: Protection effect and in vitro digestion study. Food Chemistry, 2020. 315: p. 126288.
- 116. Liu, F. and C.-H. Tang, Soy glycinin as food-grade Pickering stabilizers: Part. III. Fabrication of gel-like emulsions and their potential as sustainedrelease delivery systems for  $\beta$ -carotene. Food Hydrocolloids, 2016. **56**: p. 434-444.
- Xiao, J., C. Li, and Q. Huang, *Kafirin Nanoparticle-Stabilized Pickering Emulsions as Oral Delivery Vehicles: Physicochemical Stability and in Vitro Digestion Profile.* Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 2015. 63(47): p. 10263-10270.
- 118. Bai, L., et al., *Oil-in-water Pickering emulsions via microfluidization with cellulose nanocrystals: 2. In vitro lipid digestion.* Food Hydrocolloids, 2019. **96**: p. 709-716.
- 119. Bai, Y., et al., *Relations between digestibility and structures of pumpkin starches and pectins*. Food Hydrocolloids, 2020. **106**: p. 105894.
- 120. Wu, J., et al., *Pickering emulsions stabilized by whey protein nanoparticles prepared by thermal cross-linking*. Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces, 2015. **127**: p. 96-104.

- 121. Tzoumaki, M.V., et al., *Oil-in-water emulsions stabilized by chitin nanocrystal particles*. Food Hydrocolloids, 2011. **25**(6): p. 1521-1529.
- 122. Lu, X. and Q. Huang, *Stability and in vitro digestion study of curcuminencapsulated in different milled cellulose particle stabilized Pickering emulsions.* Food & Function, 2020. **11**(1): p. 606-616.
- 123. Lin, Q., et al., *Effects of calcium on lipid digestion in nanoemulsions* stabilized by modified starch: Implications for bioaccessibility of  $\beta$ -carotene. Food Hydrocolloids, 2017. **73**: p. 184-193.
- 124. Maldonado-Valderrama, J., et al., *The role of bile salts in digestion*. Advances in Colloid and Interface Science, 2011. **165**(1): p. 36-46.
- 125. Pilosof, A.M.R., *Potential impact of interfacial composition of proteins and polysaccharides stabilized emulsions on the modulation of lipolysis. The role of bile salts.* Food Hydrocolloids, 2017. **68**: p. 178-185.
- 126. Elomaa, M., et al., *Determination of the degree of substitution of acetylated starch by hydrolysis, 1H NMR and TGA/IR*. Carbohydrate Polymers, 2004. 57(3): p. 261-267.
- 127. Fei, P., et al., Quantitative analysis of cellulose acetate with a high degree of substitution by FTIR and its application. Analytical Methods, 2017. 9(43): p. 6194-6201.
- 128. Zhu, F., *NMR spectroscopy of starch systems*. Food Hydrocolloids, 2017.63: p. 611-624.
- 129. Namazi, H., F. Fathi, and A. Dadkhah, *Hydrophobically modified starch using long-chain fatty acids for preparation of nanosized starch particles*. Scientia Iranica, 2011. **18**(3): p. 439-445.
- 130. Kaufman, R.C., et al., *Development of a 96-well plate iodine binding assay for amylose content determination*. Carbohydrate Polymers, 2015. **115**: p. 444-447.
- 131. Englyst, K., et al., *Inter-laboratory validation of the starch digestibility method for determination of rapidly digestible and slowly digestible starch*. Food Chemistry, 2018. **245**: p. 1183-1189.
- 132. Simsek, S., et al., *Chemical composition, digestibility and emulsification properties of octenyl succinic esters of various starches.* Food Research International, 2015. **75**: p. 41-49.
- 133. Pharmacopeia, U.S., *The United States Pharmacopeia : USP 29: The National Formulary : NF 24 : by Authority of the United States Pharmacopeial Convention, Meeting at Washington, D.C., March 9-13, 2005.* 2006: United States Pharmacopeial Convention Incorporated.
- 134. Lindsay, H., A colorimetric estimation of reducing sugars in potatoes with 3,5-dinitrosalicylic acid. Potato Research, 1973. **16**(3): p. 176-179.
- 135. Teixeira, R.S.S., et al., Amino acids interference on the quantification of reducing sugars by the 3,5-dinitrosalicylic acid assay mislead carbohydrase activity measurements. Carbohydrate Research, 2012. **363**: p. 33-37.

- 136. Araujo-Silva, R., et al., Maltose Production Using Starch from Cassava Bagasse Catalyzed by Cross-Linked  $\beta$ -Amylase Aggregates. Catalysts, 2018. **8**(4): p. 170.
- 137. Garg, S. and A.K. Jana, *Characterization and evaluation of acylated starch with different acyl groups and degrees of substitution*. Carbohydrate Polymers, 2011. **83**(4): p. 1623-1630.
- 138. Xu, Y., V. Miladinov, and M.A. Hanna, *Synthesis and Characterization of Starch Acetates with High Substitution*. Cereal Chemistry, 2004. **81**(6): p. 735-740.
- 139. Wang, P.-P., et al., *Effects of octenyl succinic anhydride groups distribution* on the storage and shear stability of Pickering emulsions formulated by modified rice starch. Carbohydrate Polymers, 2020. **228**: p. 115389.
- 140. Lopez-Silva, M., et al., *In vitro digestibility characteristics of octenyl succinic acid (OSA) modified starch with different amylose content.* Food Chemistry, 2020. **304**: p. 125434.
- 141. Kapelko, M., T. Zięba, and A. Michalski, *Effect of the production method* on the properties of RS3/RS4 type resistant starch. Part 2. Effect of a degree of substitution on the selected properties of acetylated retrograded starch. Food Chemistry, 2012. **135**(3): p. 2035-2042.
- 142. Lopez-Rubio, A., et al., *Structural modifications of granular starch upon acylation with short-chain fatty acids*. Food Hydrocolloids, 2009. **23**(7): p. 1940-1946.
- 143. Selma-Gracia, R., J.M. Laparra, and C.M. Haros, *Potential beneficial effect* of hydrothermal treatment of starches from various sources on in vitro digestion. Food Hydrocolloids, 2020. **103**: p. 105687.
- 144. Nie, H., et al., *Retrogradation, gel texture properties, intrinsic viscosity and degradation mechanism of potato starch paste under ultrasonic irradiation.* Food Hydrocolloids, 2017.
- 145. Liu, H., L. Ramsden, and H. Corke, *Physical Properties of Cross-linked and Acetylated Normal and Waxy Rice Starch*. Starch Stärke, 1999. 51(7): p. 249-252.
- 146. Tang, M.C. and L. Copeland, *Investigation of starch retrogradation using atomic force microscopy*. Carbohydrate Polymers, 2007. **70**(1): p. 1-7.
- 147. Sodhi, N.S. and N. Singh, *Characteristics of acetylated starches prepared* using starches separated from different rice cultivars. Journal of Food Engineering, 2005. **70**(1): p. 117-127.
- 148. Huang, J., et al., *Pasting properties and (chemical) fine structure of acetylated yellow pea starch is affected by acetylation reagent type and granule size.* Carbohydrate Polymers, 2007. **68**(3): p. 397-406.
- 149. Wang, X., et al., *Preparation and characterisation of octenyl succinate starch as a delivery carrier for bioactive food components*. Food Chemistry, 2011. **126**(3): p. 1218-1225.
- 150. Zhang, B., et al., *Digestibility, physicochemical and structural properties* of octenyl succinic anhydride-modified cassava starches with different degree of substitution. Food Chemistry, 2017. **229**: p. 136-141.

- 151. Ye, J., et al., *Synthesis and characterization of citric acid esterified rice starch by reactive extrusion: A new method of producing resistant starch.* Food Hydrocolloids, 2019. **92**: p. 135-142.
- 152. Sandhu, K.S. and A.K. Siroha, *Relationships between physicochemical, thermal, rheological and in vitro digestibility properties of starches from pearl millet cultivars.* LWT Food Science and Technology, 2017. **83**: p. 213-224.
- 153. Hong, C., Characterisation of Physicochemical Properties of Propionylated Corn Starch and Its Application as Stabiliser. 2015.
- 154. Matos, M., et al., *O/W emulsions stabilized by OSA-modified starch granules versus non-ionic surfactant: Stability, rheological behaviour and resveratrol encapsulation.* Journal of Food Engineering, 2018. **222**: p. 207-217.
- 155. Miao, M., et al., *Structure and physicochemical properties of octenyl succinic esters of sugary maize soluble starch and waxy maize starch.* Food Chemistry, 2014. **151**: p. 154-160.
- 156. Viswanathan, A., *Effect of Degree of Substitution of Octenyl Succinate Starch on Enzymatic Degradation*. Journal of environmental polymer degradation, 1999. 7(4): p. 185-190.
- Ruiz-Rodriguez, P.E., D. Meshulam, and U. Lesmes, Characterization of Pickering O/W Emulsions Stabilized by Silica Nanoparticles and Their Responsiveness to In vitro Digestion Conditions. Food Biophysics, 2014. 9(4): p. 406-415.
- Xiao, Y., et al., In Vitro Digestion of Oil-in-Water Emulsions Stabilized by Regenerated Chitin. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 2018. 66(46): p. 12344-12352.
- 159. Wei, Y., et al., Novel colloidal particles and natural small molecular surfactants co-stabilized Pickering emulsions with hierarchical interfacial structure: Enhanced stability and controllable lipolysis. Journal of Colloid and Interface Science, 2020. **563**: p. 291-307.
- 160. Mun, S., E.A. Decker, and D.J. McClements, *Influence of emulsifier type* on in vitro digestibility of lipid droplets by pancreatic lipase. Food Research International, 2007. **40**(6): p. 770-781.